
Agenda

Standards Committee

Date: Monday 25 February 2019

Time: 6.00 pm

Place: St Aldate's Room - Oxford Town Hall

For any further information please contact the Committee 
Services Officer: 
Catherine Phythian, Committee and Member Services Officer
Telephone: 01865 2522402
Email: cphythian@oxford.gov.uk

If you intend to record the meeting, it would be helpful if you speak to the 
Committee Services Officer before the start of the meeting.



Standards Committee
Membership

Chair* Councillor Shaista Aziz

Vice-Chair* Councillor Dr Joe McManners

Members Councillor James Fry
Councillor Michael Gotch
Councillor Susanna Pressel
Councillor Sian Taylor
Councillor Dick Wolff

The full membership is seven councillors and the quorum for this meeting is three members.  
Substitute members are permitted and are shown above where notification of apologies and 
substitutes were received before the agenda was published. Apologies and substitutions sent 
after publication will be reported at the meeting. 
*Substitutes for the Chair and Vice-chair do not take on these roles.

Other attendees (advisory role, no voting rights):
Independent Persons Chris Ballinger Godfrey Cole

Jill McCleery Ben Simpson
Parish Council 
representative

Cllr Dorian Hancock

Copies of this agenda

Reference copies are available to consult in the Town Hall Reception. Agendas are published 6 
working days before the meeting and the draft minutes a few days after.

All agendas, reports and minutes are available online and can be:
- viewed on our website – mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk
- downloaded from our website
- viewed using the computers in the Customer Services, St Aldate’s, or
- subscribed to electronically by registering online at mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk

https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20169/council_meetings
http://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/ielogon.aspx?lp=1&RPID=2852798&HPID=2852798&Forms=1&META=mgSubscribeLogon


AGENDA

Pages

1  Apologies for Absence

2  Declarations of Interest

3  Minutes of previous meetings 1 - 8

The Committee is recommended to approve the minutes of the meetings 
held on 1 November 2017 and 11 September 2018 as a true and accurate 
record.

4  Code of Conduct: summary of complaints and individual 
dispensations - 1 September 2018 until 31 January 2019

9 - 14

Report of: Anita Bradley, Monitoring Officer

Purpose:
To advise the Committee of:
1. the number of complaints received under the Members’ Code of 

Conduct which have been, or are to be, considered by the Head of 
Law and Governance (in her statutory capacity as the authority’s 
Monitoring Officer) and the Independent Persons. The report also 
notes the outcome, where complaints have been concluded; and

2. the number of dispensations to an individual member, granted under 
Section 33 of the 2011 Localism Act, by the Monitoring Officer, 
following consultation with an Independent Person.

Recommendation: 
That the Standards Committee notes the content of the report.

5  Assessment criteria and proposed changes to the 
complaints handling process

15 - 56

Report of: Anita Bradley, Monitoring Officer

Purpose: To advise the Committee of the proposed changes to the 
“Complaints Handling Arrangements” documentation and the 
introduction of formal assessment criteria.

Recommendation:

That the Standards Committee recommends Council to:
1. Approve the proposed changes to the “complaints handling 



arrangements” documentation as detailed in the report; 
2. Delegate authority to the Monitoring Officer to amend and agree 

the final text and design of the draft “Complaints Handling 
Arrangements” documentation (as set out in Appendix 2); and 

3. Approve the proposed assessment criteria (as set out in paragraph 
23) for use by the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the 
Independent Persons, in the consideration of Code of Conduct 
complaints.

6  Review of member training in 2018 and proposals for future 
years

57 - 78

Report of: Anita Bradley, Monitoring Officer.

Purpose/content: Review of Member training in 2018 and 
proposals for future years

Recommendation:

That the Standards Committee resolves to:

1. Note the evaluation of the programme of training delivered to members 
in 2018;

2. Endorse the arrangements for the member training programme for 
2019-20 based on the proposals set out in Appendix 2;

3. Endorse the proposed approach for the development of a new 
member development and training programme for the municipal years 
2020-24.

7  Social media protocol for councillors 79 - 86

Report of: Anita Bradley, Monitoring Officer

Purpose: To agree a social media protocol for councillors.

Recommendation: 
That the Standards Committee resolves to:
Approve the social media protocol for councillors as set out in Appendix 1.

8  Committee on Standards in Public Life - Local Government 
Ethical Standards

87 - 96

Report of: Anita Bradley, Monitoring Officer

Purpose: This report informs the Committee of the findings of the 
Committee on Standards in Public Life report on Local 
Government Ethical Standards.



Recommendation: 
That the Standards Committee notes the report and considers whether 
there are any particular recommendations from the Committee on 
Standards in Public Life that the Committee would like to consider further 
at a future meeting.

9  Dates of future meetings

The Committee is scheduled to meet at 6.00pm on the following dates:
 24 June 2019
 16 September 2019
 2 December 2019
 2 March 2020



Councillors declaring interests 
General duty
You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item 
on the agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to you.
What is a disclosable pecuniary interest?
Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your* employment; sponsorship (ie payment for 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your 
election expenses); contracts; land in the Council’s area; licenses for land in the Council’s 
area; corporate tenancies; and securities.  These declarations must be recorded in each 
councillor’s Register of Interests which is publicly available on the Council’s website.
Declaring an interest
Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a meeting, 
you must declare that you have an interest.  You should also disclose the nature as well as 
the existence of the interest.
If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having declared it at the meeting you 
must not participate in discussion or voting on the item and must withdraw from the meeting 
whilst the matter is discussed.
Members’ Code of Conduct and public perception
Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Members’ Code of 
Conduct says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never 
improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and that 
“you must not place yourself in situations where your honesty and integrity may be 
questioned”.  What this means is that the matter of interests must be viewed within the 
context of the Code as a whole and regard should continue to be paid to the perception of 
the public.

*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member her or himself but 
also those member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with as husband or wife or as if they were 
civil partners.



Minutes of a meeting of the 
STANDARDS COMMITTEE
on Tuesday 11 September 2018 

Committee members:
Councillor Aziz Councillor Fry
Councillor Gotch Councillor McManners
Councillor Simm Councillor Tanner

Officers: 
Anita Bradley, Monitoring Officer
Andrew Brown, Committee Services Manager
Mish Tullar, Corporate Policy, Partnership and Communications Manager

Independent Persons
Jill McCleery

1. Apologies for Absence 
The Committee noted apologies from three members:

Councillor Pressel (sub: Councillor Tanner)
Councillor Taylor (sub: Councillor Simm)
Councillor Wolff

The Committee also noted apologies from three independent persons:

Chris Ballinger 
Godfrey Cole
Ben Simpson

2. Declarations of Interest 
There were no declarations.

3. Election of Chair for the Council year 2018-19 
Councillor Aziz was elected Chair for the Council year 2018-19.

4. Election of Vice-Chair for the Council year 2018-19 
Councillor McManners was elected Vice Chair for the Council year 2018-19.

1

Agenda Item 3



5. Update on ethical standards and Oxford City Council's response 
to the Committee on Standards in Public Life - Local Government 
Ethical Standards Consultation 

The Monitoring Officer introduced the report on the Committee on Standards in Public 
Life – Local Government Ethical Standards Consultation.  She summarised the key 
points the Council had made in its response to the consultation as being that:

 Bullying behaviours were difficult to address under the current standards regime.
 Adopted codes of conduct did not adequately deal with the misuse of social 

media and ICT equipment.
 There was some confusion about what interests should be declared, resulting in 

members sometimes declaring too much or too little.
 The range of available sanctions was too limited to provide an effective 

deterrent.
 There was some confusion about role of independent persons.
 The seven ‘Nolan’ principles of public life remained relevant and continued to 

provide a sound basis for all codes of conduct.

In response to questions, the Committee noted that:
 Disclosable pecuniary interests (DPIs) were the compulsory provisions for 

registering and declaring interests.  DPIs were considered to be somewhat 
limited and there was a need for members to think more broadly about their 
interests.  For example, DPI’s extended to a member’s spouse but not to other 
family members.

 While the public might reasonably expect the behaviours stipulated in codes of 
conduct to apply at all times, the legal position was that codes were only 
applicable insofar as members were acting in an official capacity as a councillor 
(or purporting to act as a councillor).

The Committee noted the report.

6. Appointment of a Parish Council representative as a non-voting 
member of the Standards Committee 

The Monitoring Officer introduced the report and said that one nomination had been 
received for the position of parish council representative.  Littlemore Parish Council was 
expected to confirm this nomination at its meeting later that day.

The Committee agreed to recommend to Council that Councillor Dorian Hancock of 
Littlemore Parish Council is appointed as the co-opted, non-voting member of the 
Standards Committee representing the four parish councils in Oxford until May 2020 
(subject to confirmation of the formal nomination from Littlemore Parish Council).

2



7. Arrangements for the appointment of Independent Persons to the 
Standards Committee in 2019 

The Monitoring Officer introduced the report which set out proposed arrangements for 
the appointment of independent persons in 2019. 

The Monitoring Officer highlighted the four roles that independent persons perform and 
said that their role in advising members against whom an allegation has been made 
could be better defined.  Where independent persons advised a member who was the 
subject of a complaint, they could not take part in any hearing on that case.  

In response to a question it was clarified that the four current independent persons had 
been appointed in 2012 for a five year term, which had been extended for a further two 
years in 2017.  One of the independent persons appointed in 2012 had served prior to 
that, under the previous standards regime.

The Committee agreed to note and approve the Monitoring Officer’s proposals for the 
proposed arrangements for the appointment of Independent Persons in 2019.

8. Dispensations - Localism Act 2011 
The Monitoring Officer introduced the report and explained that the recommendations 
were to approve certain general dispensations for all members for a period of four 
years and to delegate the granting of individual dispensations to the Monitoring Officer.  
This delegation was recommended because it would be impractical for the Standards 
Committee to convene in time to consider an individual dispensation before a matter 
came forwards for decision.  The Monitoring Officer clarified that the granting of any 
collective dispensations (e.g. for all members of the City Executive Board) would 
remain with the Standards Committee so that members could provide an appropriate 
check and balance function in these cases.  

The Committee commented that the general dispensation for members in receipt of 
housing benefit should be extended to include Universal Credit (UC), given that UC is 
replacing Housing Benefit and some decisions taken by members may impact UC 
recipients. 

The Standards Committee resolved to recommend full Council to:
a) Approve, under Section 33 of the Localism Act 2011, the general dispensations, 

listed in paragraph 4 of the report and extended to cover Universal Credit as well 
as Housing Benefit, for all elected and co-opted members of Oxford City Council;

b) Agree that those general dispensations should remain in force for a period of 
four years; and 

c) Agree that the granting of individual dispensations under Section 33 of the 
Localism Act 2011 be delegated to the Monitoring Officer.

3



9. Code of Conduct Standards Report 
The Monitoring Officer introduced the statistical report on complaints received under 
the Members’ Code of Conduct.  She explained that the case referred to in the report 
that had been referred for a formal external investigation had very recently reached an 
outcome which was that there would be no further action because the member was not 
acting in a councillor capacity and the Members’ Code of Conduct was therefore not 
engaged.

The Committee asked questions about the credentials of the external investigators, the 
time taken to reach an outcome and the merits of adopting a social media policy to offer 
additional guidance to members.  The Monitoring Officer advised the Committee that a 
social media policy would be helpful in setting clear expectations and that this idea 
would be pursued.  However, such guidance could only be advisory and would not 
broaden the scope of the standards regime in respect of members acting in a non-
councillor capacity, as this position was based on case law.

Having operated the Council’s arrangements for dealing with complaints for a period of 
time, the Monitoring Officer agreed to review the Council’s complaint handling 
arrangements with a view to making the process more open and efficient if possible 
whilst continuing to ensure it remained fair and independent.

The Committee resolved to note the contents of the report.

10. Minutes of the previous meeting 
As the minutes of the last meeting had been omitted from the paperwork the Committee 
agreed to approve these at its next meeting.

11. Dates and times of future meetings 
The Committee agreed to meet again in early 2019 and that meetings should be 
scheduled quarterly from 2019-20 on the basis that these meetings would only go 
ahead if there was sufficient business for the Committee to consider.  The Committee 
also agreed that future meetings would start at 6.00pm.

The Committee noted that future business could include consideration of:
 A new social media policy for councillors
 Revised complaint handling arrangements
 Proposals for member training

12. Matters exempt from publication 
The Committee did not consider any matters exempt from publication.

The meeting started at 2.00 pm and ended at 3.20 pm

Chair ………………………….. Date:  

4



Minutes of a meeting of the 
STANDARDS COMMITTEE
on Wednesday 1 November 2017 

Committee members:

Councillor Sanders Councillor Upton
Councillor Wade Councillor Pressel
Parish Councillor Gordon Roper 
(Blackbird Leys Parish Council)

Officers: 
Andrew Brown, Scrutiny Officer/ Committee and Member Services Manager
Lindsay Cane, Acting Head of Law and Governance
Pat  Jones, Committee and Member Services Manager
Jennifer Thompson, Committee and Members Services Officer

Also present:
Jill McCleery (Independent Person)
Ben Simpson (Independent Person)

Apologies:
Councillors Fry and Rowley sent apologies.
Godfrey Cole and Chris Bellinger (Independent Persons) sent apologies.

1. Election of Chair for 2017/18 

Councillor Sanders was elected as Chair for the remainder of the municipal year.

2. Election of Vice-Chair for 2017/18 

Councillor Upton was elected as Vice-Chair for the remainder of the municipal year.

3. Declarations of Interest 

None.

4. Minutes of previous meeting: Friday 18 December 2015 

The Committee approved as a correct record the minutes of the previous meeting on 
18 December 2015 subject to amending the format of the attendance to separate 
councillors, parish representative and independent persons.

5



5. Assessment Panel decision notices 2016-17 

The Committee considered the report of the Monitoring Officer setting out the work 
carried out by the Assessment Panel since January 2016.  
The Chair thanked the Independent Persons for their support and the time and 
expertise they gave to their role on the Assessment Panel. 
The Committee noted that there had been relatively few cases of alleged breaches of 
the code of conduct and that the Assessment Panel had either recommended no action 
or limited action. Once the Assessment Panel had made its decision and 
recommendation, and the Monitoring Officer had taken the action he considered 
necessary, the case was closed.
Councillors noted that the press interest generated by the re-publication of assessment 
panel decisions from over a year and over six months ago was not in the interests of 
the public or the councillors.  They recommended that officers consider how and when 
to present these decisions to the committee to avoid a repetition. 
At the end of the meeting, the Committee resolved to exclude the press and public and 
move into confidential session to allow a discussion of matters which may involve the 
disclosure of sensitive personal information about individuals. The public were excluded 
but officers and the independent members remained. 
In light of the elections in May 2018 and the need to make reasonable adjustments for 
councillors with a disability, the Committee discussed the standards expected of, and 
the process of handling allegations of breaches of the code of conduct by, councillors 
who may have a disability or be suffering from a health problem.  
The Committee noted that all councillors must be held to the same high standards of 
behaviour expected in the code of conduct. 
When an allegation of a breach of the code of conduct was made, the Monitoring 
Officer was able to make an initial assessment and would seek to resolve the complaint 
if there was obviously a misunderstanding and no breach. However, Councillors’ 
conduct was a matter of public interest and therefore the expectation was that the 
normal process would be followed.
The Assessment Panel when considering an allegation of a breach of the code could 
take into account any mitigating factors as a result of a known disability or health 
problem when reaching their decision and making recommendations to the Monitoring 
Officer. 
They concluded that all councillors would be expected to meet the same standards of 
behaviour, but the process and matters to be taken into account on assessment of 
particular allegations would be appropriate to individual circumstances.

The Committee agreed to note the decision notices issued by the Assessment 
Panel and the comments above.

6



6. Standards training 2017 report 

The Committee considered the report of the Monitoring Officer setting out the summary 
of the code of conduct and other training in 2017 and the outline of the training 
programme for 2018.
The Committee and Members Services Manager introduced the report and outlined the 
programme of non-compulsory planning training and briefings on topical issues running 
in 2017/18. In May and June 2018 a full compulsory and non-compulsory training 
programme would be offered including training on how to navigate the new General 
Data Protection Regulations.  
The Committee noted that compulsory training was decided by the Monitoring Officer. 
Currently this included an induction on election; annual code of conduct training; 
planning training each election year; and licensing training for relevant committee 
members. 
The Committee in discussion made comments including:

 Training dates should be sent out to existing members early and to all candidates as 
soon as possible after nominations closed.

 Providing training and briefings required a very significant commitment from officers 
and councillors were to be encouraged to attend the organised sessions.

 It would be useful to offer parish councils code of conduct training to allow members 
to discuss and ask questions about this.

 The difficulties of providing appropriate training sessions to all councillors when they 
had such a broad range of experience and knowledge; and the benefit of interactive 
sessions including examples for discussion. 

The Committee agreed to note the report and their comments above.

The Committee noted this was Pat Jones’ (Committee and Members Services 
Manager) last attendance at the committee and wished her well on her imminent 
retirement.

The meeting started at 10.00 am and ended at 11.00 am

Chair ………………………….. Date:  

7



This page is intentionally left blank



.

To: Standards Committee
Date: 25 February 2019
Report of: Monitoring Officer 
Title of Report: Code of Conduct: summary of complaints and 

individual dispensations – 1 September 2018 until 31 
January 2019

Summary and recommendations
Purpose of report: To advise the Committee of:

1. The number and status of complaints received 
under the Members’ Code of Conduct which have 
been, or are to be, considered by the Head of Law 
and Governance (in her statutory capacity as the 
authority’s Monitoring Officer) and the 
Independent Persons. 

2. The number of dispensations to an individual 
member, granted under Section 33 of the 2011 
Localism Act, by the Monitoring Officer, following 
consultation with an Independent Person.

Key decision: No

Recommendation: 
That the Standards Committee notes the content of the report.

Introduction and background 
1. In compliance with legislation relating to the standards and conduct of elected 

councillors, the Council has in place complaints handling arrangements to 
enable an individual to make a formal complaint that an elected or co-opted 
member of the City Council, or of a Parish Council within the City Council’s 
area, has failed to comply with the authority’s Members’ Code of Conduct.

2. The Standards Committee is responsible for promoting high standards of 
ethical behaviour by developing, maintaining and monitoring the Members’ 
Code of Conduct.  This report from the Monitoring Officer which identifies any 
issues or learning points arising from the complaints received contributes to that 
monitoring process. 

9

Agenda Item 4



3. The key stages of the complaints handling arrangements can be summarised 
as:

Initial tests The Monitoring Officer will apply the following “initial tests” 
to the complaint:
• It is a complaint against one or more named councillors 

of Oxford City Council or a Parish Council within the city 
boundaries; 

• The named councillor was in office at the time of the 
alleged conduct and the Code of Conduct was in force 
at the time; 

 The complaint, if proven, would be a breach of the 
Code under which the councillor was operating at the 
time of the alleged misconduct.

Assessment The complaint will be assessed and a decision made by 
the Council’s Monitoring Officer in consultation with an 
Independent Person as to the next steps.  At this stage the 
options open to the Monitoring Officer are:  
 No further action 
 Informal resolution brokered by the Monitoring Officer 

and/or Group Leader 
 Referred for investigation 
 Referred to the police or other regulatory agency

Investigation A formal investigation may be conducted by an officer from 
Oxford City Council, an officer from another local authority 
or an independent investigator.
The investigating officer will review the complaint and 
supporting evidence and may interview some or all of the 
people concerned.
The investigating officer will then produce a draft report. 
The complainant and the councillor concerned will 
normally have an opportunity to comment on the draft 
report.  The investigating officer will then submit the report 
to the Monitoring Officer.  

Local Hearing The Monitoring Officer will consider the findings of the 
investigation and, in consultation with the Independent 
Person(s), determine what action to take.  At this stage the 
options open to the Monitoring Officer are:  
 Local Hearing – complaint to be determined by the 

Standards Committee;
 Local Resolution - a fair resolution of the complaint 

which is acceptable to all parties brokered by the 
Monitoring Officer; or

 No action - complaint dismissed 

10



Complaints made against members of Oxford City Council or a Parish 
Council
4. In the period 1 September 2018 up to and including 31 January 2019 the 

Monitoring Officer dealt with the following complaints:
Ref Date City/Parish Code – alleged breach in  behaviour
14523 Aug 2018 Parish N/A – employment matters
14755 Nov 2018 Parish Honesty & Integrity

Leadership
General obligations

14818 Dec 2018 Parish N/A – operational matters

5. The Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Independent Person(s), 
considered the complaints and made the following decisions (a third complaint is 
currently being reassessed as explained in paragraph 7):

Action Reference
Assessment City Parish
 No action No further action should be taken in 

respect of the allegation
14523
14818

 Informal 
resolution

Referred to the Monitoring Officer 
and/or Group Leader for informal 
resolution

 Investigation Referred for formal external 
investigation 

 Referral Referred to the police or other 
regulatory agency

Local Hearing
 Local 

Resolution
A fair resolution of the complaint 
which is acceptable to all parties 

 No action Complaint dismissed as no breach 
of the Code of Conduct

6. The complaint (ref:14523) against members of a parish council, which was 
under consideration at the time of the previous report to the Standards 
Committee in September 2018, concerned an employment matter rather than an 
alleged breach of the Code of Conduct and so no further action was taken. 
Separate to the complaints process the Monitoring Officer did provide some 
mediation support to the parish council concerned. 

7. Subsequently, a further two complaints were submitted by members of that 
same parish council. The first of these (ref: 14755) was assessed by the 
Monitoring Officer in consultation with an Independent Person and the decision 
was taken to refer the matter for investigation. However, subsequent 
developments within the parish council mean that the public interest in pursuing 
an investigation into this complaint may have changed. The Monitoring Officer is 
reassessing this complaint in light of recent changes.   

11



8. The second complaint (ref: 14818) which related to operational matters within 
the parish council and did not identify any alleged breach of the Code of 
Conduct was not accepted by the Monitoring Officer.

9. No broader learning points have, as yet, been identified in relation to these 
complaints.

Dispensations granted to an individual Member
10. The Localism Act 2011 prevents Members from participating in any business of 

the Council where they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) unless they 
have sought a dispensation under Section 33 of the Act.  Applications must be 
made in writing and dispensations may be sought for a period of up to four 
years.

11. On 1 October 2018 Council granted a general dispensation, to remain in force 
for a period of 4 years (ending on 30 September 2022), to all Oxford City 
Council Members and co-opted Members, to speak and vote where they would 
otherwise have a DPI in the following matters: 

 Determining an allowance (including special responsibility allowances), 
travelling expense, payment or indemnity given to Members

 Housing: where the Member (or spouse or partner) holds a tenancy or 
lease with the Council as long as the matter does not relate to the 
particular tenancy or lease of the Member (their spouse or partner);

 Housing Benefit: where the Councillor (or spouse or partner) receives 
housing benefit;

 Any Ceremonial Honours given to Members;

 Setting the Council Tax or a precept under the Local Government and 
Finance Act 1992 (or any subsequent legislation); and 

 Setting a Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme or Local scheme for the 
payment of business rates (including eligibility for rebates and reductions) 
for the purposes of the Local Government Finance Act 2012 (or any 
subsequent legislation)

12. In October 2018 Council also delegated the granting of dispensations to an 
individual member under Section 33 of the Localism Act 2011 to the 
Monitoring Officer, following consultation with an Independent Person. 

13. In the period covered by this report there have been no requests for an 
individual dispensation under Section 33 of the Localism Act 2011.

Legal implications
14. The Localism Act 2011 requires the Council to have a Code of Conduct which 

sets out the standards expected of Members whenever they act in their official 
capacity. The Code must also have in place a suitable procedure at a local 
level to investigate and determine allegations against elected Members and 

12



co-opted Members. The Council is also responsible for having arrangements 
in place to investigate and determine allegations against Parish Councillors.

Financial implications
15. There is a cost to the authority when a complaint is referred for external 

investigation this is determined by market factors in terms of the availability of 
investigators identified through complaint procurement processes. 

Risk management
16. If the Council fails to adopt and maintain a Code of Conduct and process for 

the investigation of complaints which is fit for purpose, robust and transparent 
then there are risks to the Council’s reputation and also to the integrity of its 
corporate governance and decision-making processes as it will not be 
compliant with legislation. Formal consideration of requests for dispensation 
minimises the risk of the Council not following lawful procedures in respect of 
members’ interests. 

Report author Catherine Phythian

Job title Committee and Members Services Officer
Service area or department Law and Governance
Telephone 01865 252402  
e-mail cphythian@oxford.gov.uk 

13

mailto:cphythian@oxford.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



To: Standards Committee
Date: 25 February 2019
Report of: Monitoring Officer 
Title of Report: Code of Conduct: “Complaints Handling 

Arrangements” and Assessment criteria.

Summary and recommendations
Purpose of report: To advise the Committee of the proposed changes to 

the “Complaints Handling Arrangements” 
documentation and the introduction of formal 
assessment criteria. 

Key decision: No

Recommendation: 
That the Standards Committee recommends Council to:

1. Approve the proposed changes to the “Complaints Handling 
Arrangements” documentation as detailed in the report; 

2. Delegate authority to the Monitoring Officer to amend and agree the 
final text and design of the draft “Arrangements for dealing with code of 
conduct complaints against councillors ” documentation (as set out in 
Appendix 2); and 

3. Approve the proposed assessment criteria (as set out in paragraph 23) for 
use by the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Independent Persons, 
in the consideration of Code of Conduct complaints.

Appendices

Appendix 1  Current documentation: Arrangements for Dealing with 
Allegations of Breaches of the Code of Conduct for 
Members

Appendix 2 Draft documentation: Arrangements for dealing with code of 
conduct complaints against councillors

Introduction and background 
1. In compliance with The Localism Act 2011 the Council has in place arrangements 

to enable the public to make a formal complaint that an elected or co-opted 
member of the City Council, or of a Parish Council within the city boundaries, has 
failed to comply with that authority’s Members’ Code of Conduct. 

15

Agenda Item 5



2. Those arrangements, known as the “Complaints Handling Arrangements”, are 
publicised on the Council’s website and made available to individuals who submit 
a complaint. 

3. The Council adopted the “Complaints Handling Arrangements” in May 2012 and 
in consultation with the other Oxfordshire local authorities developed a common 
set of documentation.  

4. The Council’s “Complaints Handling Arrangements” have not been reviewed or 
updated in the last six years, although many other local authorities, including 
South, Vale and West Oxfordshire have published amended or expanded 
versions of the original documentation. 

5. During 2018 the Monitoring Officer and Committee & Member Services officers 
have subjected the Complaints Handling Arrangements to a review to challenge 
whether the process and the supporting documentation remain fit for purpose.  
As a result of that exercise and in the light of recent casework it is proposed to 
make some revisions to provide additional rigour to the process and clarification 
to the supporting documentation.

6. The Committee on Standards in Public Life published the “Local Government 
Ethical Standards” report on 30 January 2019 and 13 of the 26 recommendations 
to Government relate to some aspect of the Code of Conduct and by association 
the complaints handling process. Additionally 7 of the 8 Best Practice 
recommendations relate to the Code of Conduct.  These points are discussed in 
detail in a separate report to the Committee but it is important to note that the 
changes and improvements to the Council’s complaints handling process that are 
proposed here do not conflict with any of the recommendations or best practice 
observations made by the Committee on Standards in Public Life. Further 
changes will be required in due course if the Government accepts the 
recommendations made by Committee on Standards in Public Life

Proposed amendments to the “Complaints Handling Arrangements” 
Documentation

7. The current documentation supporting the “Complaints Handling Arrangements” 
is attached for reference at Appendix A and comprises:

a) The guidance document (Arrangements for Dealing with Allegations of 
Breaches of the Code of Conduct for Members)

b) The Complaint Form

8. The documentation references, and is intended to be read in conjunction with, the 
Codes of Conduct for the City Council and Parish Councils, as appropriate. The 
changes to the existing arrangements proposed in this report would not require 
any revision to the content of the current Oxford City Council Members’ Code of 
Conduct.

16



9. A revised set of the “Complaints Handling Arrangements” documentation is 
attached at Appendix B. A detailed explanation for the proposed changes is set in 
the following paragraphs.

The Guidance Document 
10. The current guidance document is intended to explain to a member of the public 

a) how to make a complaint and b) the Council’s process for dealing with that 
complaint.  It is also used to explain the arrangements to any councillor who 
might be the subject of a complaint.

11. The current guidance is quite detailed on some aspects of the complaints 
process and less detailed on others, for example on the Local Hearing 
procedure. It also introduces unnecessary background information on the 
Standards Committee and Independent Persons. Overall it is considered that the 
arrangements could provide more clarity to the public and councillors about what 
to expect from the process of submitting or being the subject of a complaint.

12. The revised guidance document has been given a new title (Arrangements for 
dealing with code of conduct complaints against councillors) and re-written and 
expanded as shown below:

Old 
version 

New 
version

Comment

1
2 

1 Sections combined.  Minor rewording.

3 2 Updated / reformatting / some change to content for 
clarification

3 New content to provide context and general 
explanation of the complaint process

4 4 Updated / some change to content for clarification and 
includes proposed assessment criteria

5 5 Minor rewording
6 6 No change to content / reformatting only
7 7 Minor rewording / reformatting only 

Some content on Local Hearings moved to Appendix 
3

8
9

8 Sections combined.  Minor rewording.

9 New section on indicative timescales
10 10 Minor rewording

11 New section on document retention
11 Summary of content moved to Appendix 2

17



12 Summary of content moved to Appendix 2
13 12 No change

Appendix 1 flow chart detailing the complaint process
Appendix 2 glossary of terms used during the complaint process
Appendix 3 Procedure to be followed at the Standards Committee 

Local Hearing.  This will give both the complainant 
and the subject councillor a much clearer idea of what 
to expect.  It will also form part of the Local Hearing 
agenda to ensure that those hearings are conducted 
to a consistent standard.

Appendix 4 Complaint Form

The Complaint Form
13. The current version of the form relies heavily on free text and this often results in 

long and unfocused submissions.  This can make it difficult for the Monitoring 
Officer and Independent Persons to tease out the specifics of the complaint.  
The revised form requires the complainant to identify exactly which elements of 
the Code of Conduct they believe have been breached.  It also uses the “Who?, 
Why?, What?, Where? When?” approach to provide context and structure to 
their complaint.

14. The revised form includes two new sections to establish whether there has been 
a previous complaint and to determine what possible remedy the complainant is 
seeking. It also asks the complainant to give some context to any request for 
anonymity.

15. It is intended to work with ICT colleagues to make the revised form available for 
on-line submission from the Council’s website.

Email address
16. The simplest but possibly most effective change to all of the documentation is to 

the email address. 
 
17. The original email address was too long and the presence of an underscore 

resulted in some problems with misdirected messages.  The old email address 
(standards_monitoringofficer@oxford.gov.uk) has been “hidden” in 
documentation and on the website but it still works if it is accessed from an old 
cached address list and the message will be re-routed to the new email address.

18. The new email address is: standards@oxford.gov.uk. 

19. The text on the Council’s website will be updated once these proposed changes 
have been approved. 

Initial tests and assessment criteria

18

mailto:standards_monitoringofficer@oxford.gov.uk
mailto:standards@oxford.gov.uk


20. Before any assessment of a complaint begins, the Monitoring Officer must be 
satisfied that the complaint meets the following “initial tests”:

 It is a complaint against one or more named Members of Oxford City Council 
or a Parish Council within the city boundaries; 

 The named Member was in office at the time of the alleged conduct and the 
Code of Conduct was in force at the time; 

 The complaint, if proven, would be a breach of the Code of Conduct under 
which the Member was operating at the time of the alleged misconduct.

21. If the complaint fails one or more of the “initial tests” it cannot be investigated as 
a breach of the code and no further action will be taken.

22. If the “initial tests” are met the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with an 
Independent Person, will consider the complaint against possible breaches of 
the Code of Conduct, and determine what action should be taken. It is not 
always necessary to take action against each complaint.  The Monitoring Officer 
has authority to decide the final action taken in respect of the complaint, having 
due regard to the advice of the Independent Person.

23. It is proposed that when reviewing Code of Conduct complaints the Monitoring 
Officer, in consultation with an Independent Person(s), should have regard to the 
following assessment criteria:

Adequate 
information

The Monitoring Officer must be satisfied that there is 
sufficient information available at the “initial test and 
assessment stage” to decide whether the complaint 
should be referred for investigation or other action. 
The Monitoring Officer may provide other information 
which is readily available and which may assist in the 
consideration of the complaint “initial test and 
assessment stage”. This may include details of 
attendees at events, copies of agendas, reports and 
minutes of meetings or copies of the Members entry in 
the Register of Members’ Interests. It will not include 
conducting interviews with witnesses.
If insufficient information is available, the Monitoring 
Officer will not normally refer the complaint for 
investigation or other action.

Official capacity The Monitoring Officer must be satisfied that that the 
Subject Member was acting in an official capacity.

Timescale The Monitoring Officer will take into account when the 
events subject to the complaint took place and will not 
normally investigate or pursue other action if the events 
occurred more than 6 months prior to the complaint 
being submitted other than in exceptional 

19



circumstances, such as where the conduct relates to a 
pattern of behaviour which has recently been repeated.

Seriousness The Monitoring Officer will not normally refer a matter 
for investigation or other action if it is considered trivial, 
malicious, vexatious, politically motivated or tit-for-tat.
Where the complaint appears to relate to the “rough and 
tumble of political debate” and pertains to conduct 
between Members or Members and co-opted Members 
rather than between Members and the public or officers, 
in most instances no further action will be taken.

Public interest Consideration will be given as to whether the public 
interest would be served by referring a complaint for 
investigation or other action. 

 the public interest would not normally be served 
where, for instance, a member has died, resigned or 
is seriously ill.

 If the complaint has already been the subject of an 
investigation or other action relating to the Code of 
Conduct or the subject of an investigation by other 
regulatory authorities, it is unlikely that it will be 
referred for investigation or other action unless it is 
evident that the public interest will be served by 
further action being taken.

 If the complaint relates to an ex-Member of Oxford 
City Council or one of the parish councils within the 
city boundary who is now a Member of another 
authority the Monitoring Officer may refer the matter 
to that authority for consideration.

Multiple Complaints A single event may give rise to similar complaints from a 
number of complainants. Where possible these 
complaints will be considered by the Monitoring Officer 
at the same time. Each complaint will, however, be 
determined separately. If an investigation is deemed to 
be appropriate the Monitoring Officer may decide that, in 
the interests of efficiency, only one complaint should go 
forward for investigation, with the other complainants 
being treated as potential witnesses in that 
investigation. 

 
24. Each complaint will be assessed on its own merits and the proposed 

assessment criteria are not presented as an exhaustive list of the issues to be 
considered.  But they do provide a framework for the Monitoring Officer, and 
Independent Persons, to use in reaching a decision on whether a complaint is 
appropriate to refer for investigation, informal action or no action.

20



25. The Monitoring Officer will not refer complaints for investigation where the 
complaint is not sufficiently serious to justify the cost of an investigation or it is 
not in the public interest to investigate.

26. The Monitoring Officer is required to refer the following matters to the police (or 
other regulatory agency):

 a failure to register interests in accordance with the provisions of the 
Localism Act 2011 and The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests) Regulations 2012

 any complaint concerning a criminal offence
All referrals to the police or other regulatory agency will take place at the outset 
of the process and before the initial tests or assessment stage.  No further action 
will be taken in relation to such complaints until any related criminal/regulatory 
investigation, proceedings or processes have been concluded. 

Legal implications
27. There is a legal requirement under Section 28(6) and (7) of the Localism Act 

2011, for the Council to have in place “arrangements” under which allegations 
that a member or co-opted member of the authority or of a parish council within 
the authority’s area or of a Committee or Sub-Committee of the authority, has 
failed to comply with that authority’s Code of Conduct can be investigated and 
decisions made on such allegations.

28. The changes to existing arrangements detailed in this report will introduce further 
consistency and rigour to the initial assessment stage of the Council’s 
complaints handling arrangements.

Financial implications
29. There are no financial implications arising directly from the changes to existing 

arrangements detailed in this report.  The Monitoring Officer must be mindful of 
the public money which may be incurred in arranging a formal investigation of a 
complaint. Investigations are costly and time consuming and in some 
circumstances, complaints may be more effectively dealt with by informal 
resolution or other action.  

Risk management
30. Introducing the recommended assessment criteria would mean that the 

Monitoring Officer and Independent Persons would have a clear and objective 
framework against which to make an initial assessment and determine the 
validity of the complaint. 

Equalities 
31. The proposals detailed in this report and the supporting documentation provide a 

framework for a fair and consistent approach to handling complaints against 
councillors. Where appropriate practical adjustments to the arrangements may 
be made to accommodate specific requirements.

21



Report author Catherine Phythian

Job title Committee and Members Services Officer
Service area or department Law and Governance
Telephone 01865 252402  
e-mail cphythian@oxford.gov.uk 

22

mailto:cphythian@oxford.gov.uk


Oxford City Council 

Arrangements for Dealing with Allegations of Breaches of the 
Code of Conduct for Members 

1. Context

These arrangements set out how you may make a complaint that an
elected or co-opted member of this authority or of a parish council
within our area has failed to comply with the authority’s Code of
Conduct, and sets out how the authority will deal with allegations of a
failure to comply with the authority’s Code of Conduct.

Under Section 28(6) and (7) of the Localism Act 2011, the Council
must have in place “arrangements” under which allegations that a
member or co-opted member of the authority or of a parish council
within the authority’s area or of a Committee or Sub-Committee of the
authority, has failed to comply with that authority’s Code of Conduct
can be investigated and decisions made on such allegations.

Such arrangements must provide for the authority to appoint at least
one Independent Person, whose views must be sought by the authority
before it takes a decision on an allegation which it has decided shall be
investigated, and whose views can be sought by the authority at any
other stage, or by a member or a member or co-opted member of a
parish council against whom an allegation has been made.

2. The Code of Conduct

The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for members, which is
attached as Appendix One to these arrangements and which is
available for inspection on the authority’s website and at the Town Hall.

Each parish council is also required to adopt a Code of Conduct.  If you
wish to inspect a Parish Council’s Code of Conduct, you should inspect
any website operated by the parish council and request the parish clerk
to allow you to inspect the parish council’s Code of Conduct.

3. Making a complaint

If you wish to make a complaint, please write or email to –

The Monitoring Officer
Law & Governance
Oxford City Council
St Aldates Chambers
109-113 St Aldates
Oxford OX1 1DS

Appendix 1

23



 
Or – Standards_monitoringofficer@oxford.gov.uk 
 
The Monitoring Officer is a senior officer of the authority who has 
statutory responsibility for maintaining the register of members’ 
interests and who is responsible for administering the system in 
respect of complaints of member misconduct. 
 
In order to ensure that we have all the information which we need to be 
able to process your complaint, please complete and send us the 
model complaint form, which can be downloaded from the authority’s 
website, next to the Code of Conduct, and is available on request from 
Reception at the Town Hall. 
 
Please provide us with your name and a contact address or email 
address, so that we can acknowledge receipt of your complaint and 
keep you informed of its progress.  If you want to keep your name and 
address confidential, please indicate this in the space provided on the 
complaint form.  The authority does not normally investigate 
anonymous complaints, unless there is a clear public interest in doing 
so. 
 
The Monitoring Officer will acknowledge receipt of your complaint 
within 5 working days of receiving it, and will keep you informed of the 
progress of your complaint. 

 
4. Will your complaint be investigated 
 

The Monitoring Officer will review every complaint received and, after 
consultation with an Independent Person(s), take a decision as to 
whether it merits formal investigation.  This decision will normally be 
taken within 21 working days of receipt of your complaint.  Where the 
Monitoring Officer has taken a decision, he/she will inform you of 
his/her decision and the reasons for that decision. 
 
Where the Monitoring Officer requires additional information in order to 
come to a decision, he/she may come back to you for such information, 
and may request information from the member against whom your 
complaint is directed.  Where your complaint relates to a Parish 
Councillor, the Monitoring Officer may also inform the Parish Council of 
your complaint and seek the views of the Parish Council before 
deciding whether the complaint merits formal investigation. 
 
In appropriate cases, the Monitoring Officer may seek to resolve the 
complaint informally, without the need for a formal investigation.  Such 
informal resolution may involve the member accepting that his/her 
conduct was unacceptable and offering an apology, or other remedial 
action by the authority.  Where the member or the authority makes a 
reasonable offer of local resolution, but you are not willing to accept 

24

mailto:Standards_monitoringofficer@oxford.gov.uk


that offer, the Monitoring Officer will take account of this in deciding 
whether the complaint merits formal investigation. 
 
If your complaint identifies criminal conduct or breach of other 
regulation by any person, the Monitoring Officer or any other officer will 
refer the complaint to the Police or other regulatory agencies.  If you 
consider there has been criminal conduct then you may go directly to 
the Police or other regulatory agency. 

 
5. How is the investigation conducted? 
 

If the Monitoring Officer decides that a complaint merits formal 
investigation, he/she will appoint an Investigating Officer, who may be 
another officer of the authority, an officer of another authority or an 
external investigator.  The Investigating Officer will decide whether 
he/she needs to meet or speak to you to understand the nature of your 
complaint and so that you can explain your understanding of events 
and suggest what documents the Investigating Officer needs to see, 
and who the Investigating Officer needs to interview. 
 
The Investigating Officer would normally write to the member against 
whom you have complained and provide him/her with a copy of your 
complaint, and ask the member to provide his/her explanation of 
events, and to identify what documents he/she needs to see and who 
he/she needs to interview.  In exceptional cases, where it is 
appropriate to keep your identity confidential or disclosure of details of 
the complaint to the member might prejudice the investigation, the 
Monitoring Officer can delete your name and address from the papers 
given to the member, or delay notifying the member until the 
investigation has progressed sufficiently. 
 
At the end of his/her investigation, the Investigating Officer will produce 
a draft report and will send copies of that draft report, in confidence, to 
you and to the member concerned, to give you both an opportunity to 
identify any matter in that draft report which you disagree with or which 
you consider requires more consideration. 
 
Having received and taken account of any comments which you may 
make on the draft report, the Investigating Officer will send his/her final 
report to the Monitoring Officer. 

 
6. What happens if the Investigating Officer concludes that there is 

no evidence of a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct? 
 

The Monitoring Officer will review the Investigating Officer’s report and, 
if he/she is satisfied that the Investigating Officer’s report is sufficient, 
the Monitoring Officer will write to you and to the member concerned 
[and to the Parish Council, where your complaint relates to a Parish 
Councillor], notifying you that he/she is satisfied that no further action is 
required, and give you both a copy of the Investigating Officer’s final 

25



report.  If the Monitoring Officer is not satisfied that the investigation 
has been conducted properly, he/she may ask the Investigating Officer 
to reconsider his/her report. In considering the report, the Monitoring 
Officer may consult with an Independent Person(s) if he/she considers 
it appropriate to do so. 

 
7. What happens if the Investigating Officer concludes that there is 

evidence of a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct? 
 

The Monitoring Officer will review the Investigating Officer’s report and 
will then either send the matter for local hearing before the Standards 
Committee or after consulting an Independent Person(s) seek local 
resolution. 

 
7.1 Local Resolution 
 

The Monitoring Officer may consider that the matter can 
reasonably be resolved without the need for a hearing.  In such 
a case, he/she will consult with an Independent Person(s) and 
with you as a complainant and seek to agree a fair resolution of 
the complaint which also helps to ensure higher standards of 
conduct for the future.  Such resolution may include the member 
accepting that his/her conduct was unacceptable and offering an 
apology, and/or other remedial action by the authority.  If the 
member complies with the suggested resolution, the Monitoring 
Officer will report the matter to the Standards Committee and 
the Parish Council for information, but will take no further action.  
. 

7.2 Local Hearing 
 

If the Monitoring Officer considers that local resolution is not 
appropriate ( which may be because you are not satisfied by the 
proposed resolution) or the member concerned is not prepared 
to undertake any proposed remedial action, such as giving an 
apology, then the Monitoring Officer will report the Investigating 
Officer’s report to the Standards Committee which will conduct a 
local hearing before deciding whether the member has failed to 
comply with the Code of Conduct and, if so, whether to take any 
action in respect of the member. 
 
The Monitoring Officer will conduct a “pre-hearing process” 
requiring the member to give his/her response to the 
Investigating Officer’s report, in order to identify what is likely to 
be agreed and what is likely to be in contention at the hearing, 
and the Chair of the Standards Committee may issue directions 
as to the manner in which the hearing will be conducted.  At the 
hearing, the Investigating Officer will present his/her report, call 
such witnesses as he/she considers necessary and make 
representations to substantiate his/her conclusion that the 
member has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct.  For this 

26



purpose, the Investigating Officer may ask you as the 
complainant to attend and give evidence to the Standards 
Committee.  The member will then have an opportunity to give 
his/her evidence, to call witnesses and to make representations 
to the Standards Committee as to why he/she considers that 
he/she did not fail to comply with the Code of Conduct. 
 
The Standards Committee, with the benefit of any advice from 
an Independent Person(s), may conclude that the member did 
not fail to comply with the Code of Conduct, and so dismiss the 
complaint.  
 
If the Standards Committee concludes that the member did fail 
to comply with the Code of Conduct, the Chair will inform the 
member of this finding and the Standards Committee will then 
consider what action, if any, it should take as a result of the 
member’s failure to comply with the Code of Conduct.  In doing 
this, the Committee will give the member an opportunity to make 
representations and will consult an Independent Person(s).  

 
8. What action can the Standards Committee take where a member 

has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct? 
 

The Council has delegated to the Standards Committee such of its 
powers to take action in respect of individual members as may be 
necessary to promote and maintain high standards of conduct.  
Accordingly the Standards Committee may –  
 
1. Censure or reprimand the member; 
 
2. Publish its findings in respect of the member’s conduct; 

 
3. Report its findings to Council or to Parish Council for 

information; 
 

4. Recommend to the member’s group Leader (or in the case of 
un-grouped members, recommend to Council or to Committees) 
that he/she be removed from any or all Committee or Sub-
Committees of the Council; 

 
5. Recommend to the Leader of the Council that the member be 

removed from the Cabinet, or removed from particular Portfolio 
responsibilities; 

 
6. Recommend to Council that the member be replaced as 

Executive Leader; 
 

7. Instruct the Monitoring Officer to or recommend that the Parish 
Council arrange training for the member. 

 

27



The Standards Committee has no power to suspend or disqualify the 
member or to withdraw or suspend allowances or restrict access to or 
use of Council facilities. 

 
9. What happens at the end of the Hearing? 
 

At the end of the hearing, the Chair will state the decision of the 
Standards Committee as to whether the member failed to comply with 
the Code of Conduct and as to any actions which the Standards 
Committee resolves to take. 
 
As soon as reasonably practicable thereafter, the Monitoring Officer 
shall prepare a formal decision notice in consultation with the Chair of 
the Committee, and send a copy to you, to the member (and to the 
Parish Council if appropriate), make that decision notice available for 
public inspection and, if so directed, report the decision to the next 
convenient meeting of the Council. 
 

10. Appeals 
 

There is no right of appeal for you as complainant or for the member 
against a decision of the Monitoring Officer or of the Standards 
Committee. 
 
If you feel the authority has failed to deal with your complaint properly, 
you may make a complaint to the Local Government Ombudsman. 

 
11. What is the Standards Committee? 
 

The Standards Committee is a politically balanced Committee of 
Council.  It is comprised of seven members of the Council, including 
not more than one member of the authority’s Executive and comprising 
members drawn from at least 2 different political parties.  Subject to 
those requirements, it is appointed on the nomination of party group 
leaders in proportion to the strengths of each party group on the 
Council. The Parish Councils within the city will also be invited to 
nominate one representative to the Committee. 
 
The Independent Persons are invited to attend all meetings of the 
Committee and their views are sought and taken into consideration 
before the Committee takes any decision on whether the member’s 
conduct constitutes a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct and 
as to any action to be taken following a finding of failure to comply with 
the Code of Conduct. The Independent persons and the Parish Council 
representative do not, however, have voting rights on the Committee. 
Their role is an advisory one. 

 
 
 
 

28



12. Who are the Independent Persons? 
 

Independent Persons are persons who have applied for the post 
following advertisement of a vacancy, they are appointed by a majority 
of all the members of Council. 
 
A person cannot be “independent” if he/she –  
 

1. Is, or has been within the past 5 years, a member, co-opted 
member or officer of the authority; 

 
2. Is, or has been within the past 5 years, a member, co-opted 

member or officer of a parish council within the authority’s area, 
or; 

 
3. Is a relative, or close friend, of a person within paragraph 1. or 2 

above.  For this purpose, “relative” means –  
 

3.1 Spouse or civil partner; 
 
3.2 Living with the other person as husband and wife or as if 

they were civil partners; 
 

3.3 Grandparent of the other person; 
 

3.4 A lineal descendent of a grandparent of the other person; 
 

3.5 A parent, sibling or child of a person within paragraphs.3.1 
or 3.2 

 
3.6 A spouse or civil partner of a person within paragraphs.3.3, 

.3.4 or.3.5; or 
 

3.7 Living with a person within paragraphs.3.3, 3.4, 3.5 as 
husband and wife or as if they were civil partners. 

 
13. Revision of these arrangements 
 

The Council may by resolution agree to amend these arrangements. 
The Standards Committee, on the advice of the Monitoring Officer, may 
depart from these arrangements where it is necessary to do so in order 
to secure the effective and fair consideration of any matter. 

 
 

29



 
 

COMPLAINT FORM 
 
If you have any questions or difficulties filling in this form or if for 
any reason you are in need of support in completing this form, please 
telephone 01865 252191 
 
You can also e-mail us on standards_monitoringofficer@oxford.gov.uk 
 
Please note 
 
a. Complaints can only be accepted in writing; 
b. An officer from the Council may contact you personally to go through the details of your 

complaint; 
c. The Council is unlikely to be able to keep your identity or the information you have 

provided confidential.  If you have serous concerns about disclosure of your name and 
a summary of your complaint, please complete Section 4 on confidential information; 

d. Please read the leaflet How to make a complaint prior to completing this form. 
 
Section 1: Your contact details 
 

  
Title:  
  
First Name:  
  
Surname:  
  
House Number/Name  
  
Road/Street  
  
Town/City:  
  
Postcode:  
  
Telephone/Mobile:  
  
E-mail address:  

 30



Please tick the box which complainant type best describes you:- 
 

Member of the Public 
 

 Elected/Co-opted Member of the Authority 
 

 Independent Member of the Standards Committee 
 

 Member of Parliament 
 

 Local authority Monitoring Officer 
 

 Other Local Authority Officer/Employee 
 

 Other (Please specify) 
 
Section 2: Your complaint 
 
Who are you complaining about? 
 
Please give the name of the Councillor/s, Member/s Independent or Co-opted 
Member/s of Oxford City Council or Parish Council within the City that you consider has 
broken the Code of Conduct. 
 
Name of individual/s (include both first and last names) 
 
1.  

 

2. 

 

3. 

 

4. 

 

5. 

 

31



Section 3: What are you complaining about? 
 
Please provide us with as much information as you can about your complaint to help us 
decide whether or not it should be investigated.  Include the date and details of the 
alleged misconduct, and any information that supports the allegation.  If you are 
complaining about more than one member you should clearly explain what each 
individual member has done that you believe has breached the Code of Conduct. 
 
We can only investigate complaints that a member has broken the Code of Conduct for 
members (please see the document How to make a complaint referred to above).  
You can continue on a separate sheet if there is not enough space on this form. 
 
 
 

 
32



Evidence (if this applies) 
 
Please attach to this form copies of any correspondence, documents, names and 
details of witnesses, and any other evidence that you feel is relevant to your 
complaint.  Please avoid sending us large amounts of background information 
that only relate indirectly to your complaint. 
 
Please briefly describe the documents you will be enclosing:- 
 
1. 
2. 
3. 
4. 
5. 
6. 
 

 Tick this box if you would like us to return the evidence to you. 
 
Section 4: Confidential information (this part only applies if you are asking for 
your identity to be kept confidential) 
 
In the interests of fairness and natural justice, we believe Members who are 
complained about have a right to know who has made the complaint.  We also believe 
that they have a right to be provided with a summary of the complaint.  We are unlikely 
therefore to withhold your identity or the details of your complaint unless there is a good 
reason.  For example, where the disclosure of personal details may result in the 
evidence being compromised or destroyed by the subject member or if there is a real 
possibility of intimidation of the complainant or witnesses by the subject member. 
 
Please note that requests for confidentiality or requests for suppression of complaint 
details will not automatically be granted.  The assessment of your request will be 
undertaken by the Panel who will carry out the initial assessment of your complaint.  
We will then contact you with the decision.  If your request is not granted, we will allow 
you the option of withdrawing your complaint. It is important to understand that in 
certain exceptional circumstances where the matter complained of is very serious, we 
can proceed with an investigation or other action and disclose your name even if you 
have asked us not to. 

33



 
Please provide details of why you believe we should withhold your name/details 
of your complaint below:- 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Please consider the complaint I have described above and the evidence 
attached.  I understand and accept that the details will normally be disclosed to 
the Member and any parties involved in the complaints procedure or outside 
authorities required to monitor the Council’s complaints procedure by law.  It 
may also be shared with the police in the prevention or detection of crime. 
 
 
Signature: ___________________  Date:_____________________ 
 
 
Please send this form together with any attachments to:- 
 
 
 The Monitoring Officer 
 Oxford City Council 
 St Aldate’s Chamber 
 St Aldate’s 
 Oxford OX1 1DS. 
 
 
Or by e-mail to standards_monitoringofficer@oxford.gov.uk 
 

34



 
 

 

Arrangements for dealing with code 
of conduct complaints against 

councillors 

 

 
 

1. The Code of Conduct 

The Localism Act 2011 requires all local authorities to adopt a code of 
conduct setting out the standards of behaviour expected from local 
councillors. 

Oxford City Council has adopted a code of conduct for members, which is 
available for inspection on the council’s website and on request from the 
Monitoring Officer: standards@oxford.gov.uk. 

Each of the parish councils in Oxford may adopt their own Code of Conduct 
and a copy of their Code of Conduct should be found on the relevant parish 
council website. 

The Localism Act 2011 also requires local authorities to have in place 
“arrangements” under which allegations that an elected or co-opted member 
of the district or parish council has failed to comply with the relevant Code of 
Conduct can be investigated and decisions made on such allegations. 

These arrangements set out: 

1. how to make a complaint about the conduct of an elected or co-opted 
member of Oxford City Council or of the following parish councils: 
Blackbird Leys PC; Old Marston PC; Littlemore PC; Quarry & 
Risinghurst PC   

2. how the Council will deal with such complaints 
 
Decisions reached by the Monitoring Officer under this complaints process will 
be reported to the next scheduled meeting of the Standards Committee for 
noting. 
 
 

2. Making a complaint 

Complaints must be submitted in writing to Oxford City Council’s Monitoring 
Officer using the Code of Conduct complaint form.  When complete, your form 
should be sent to the Monitoring Officer by post or email (preferred). 

By post: Monitoring Officer, Oxford City Council St Aldate’s Chambers 
109-113 St Aldates, Oxford, OX1 1DS 

Email:  standards@oxford.gov.uk 
 

The Monitoring Officer will not normally consider a complaint unless it is in 
writing and a complaint form has been received. This is to ensure that all of 

35

https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/file/892/code_of_members_conduct
mailto:standards@oxford.gov.uk
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/file/894/councillor_code_of_conduct_complaints_form
mailto:standards@oxford.gov.uk


 
Page 2 of 8 

Updated January 2019 
 

the relevant information is provided and, where necessary, consent to share 
information has been obtained so that the complaint can be processed.  
If you do not have access to the internet or have difficulty completing the form 
please contact 01865 252402 for assistance.  

Where a complaint is made against more than one councillor, a separate 
complaint form must be completed in respect of each councillor. 

If you are making the complaint on behalf of a number of individuals, please 
nominate one person as the single point of contact to whom all 
correspondence will be addressed.  

 
 
3. The complaint process 

Appendix 1 flow chart detailing the complaint process 

Appendix 2 glossary of terms used during the complaint process 

Appendix 3 procedure to be followed at a Standards Committee Local 
Hearing  

Appendix 4 Complaint form  

Paragraph 9 indicative timescale for each stage of the complaint process 

 

The Monitoring Officer will acknowledge receipt of the complaint within 5 
working days. 

The Monitoring Officer is entitled to dismiss the complaint at the outset if: 

 the Subject Councillor is no longer a councillor; 

 the complaint is made anonymously; 

 the same, or substantially the same issue has been the subject of a 
previous Code of Conduct allegation and there is nothing further to be 
gained; 

 the complaint is essentially against the action of the council as a whole 
and cannot properly be directed against individual councillor(s); 

 the complaint does not relate to the conduct of a councillor and is a 
service complaint or other matter; 

 the complaint is against an officer of the Council. 

If the complaint identifies criminal conduct (including a failure to register 
disclosable pecuniary interests) or breach of other regulations by any person, 
the Monitoring Officer will refer the complaint to the police or other regulatory 
agencies. No further action will be taken in relation to such complaints until 
any related criminal/regulatory investigation, proceedings or processes have 
been concluded.   

36



 
Page 3 of 8 

Updated January 2019 
 

Anonymous complaints will not normally be investigated, unless there is clear 
public interest in doing so and the Monitoring Officer considers that a fair 
investigation can be carried out.  

Requests from Complainants for the Monitoring Officer to withhold their 
identity, so that they remain anonymous to the Subject Councillor, are not 
ordinarily granted. The Monitoring Officer has to balance the right of the 
Subject Councillor to properly understand the complaint against them and 
respond to it, with the rights of the Complainant. This normally means that the 
Subject Councillor will need to be told who is making the complaint. 

All parties are encouraged to respond promptly to any correspondence in 
relation to the complaint. All parties will be kept updated as to how the 
complaint is progressing. If at any stage in the complaint process the 
Complainant fails to respond, the complaint may be treated as withdrawn; if 
the Subject Councillor fails to respond, the complaint will be determined on 
the basis of the information available.  
 
 

4. Will the complaint be investigated 

The Monitoring Officer will review every complaint received and, after 
consultation with an Independent Person (either in person or electronically), 
take a decision as to the following: 

 That no further action should be taken 

 Refer the complaint for local resolution (which might involve an apology 
or training or some other form of mediation) 

 Refer the complaint for investigation 

This is known as the Assessment stage and its purpose is to establish if there 
are valid grounds to investigate the complaint.  At this stage there is no 
consideration or decision about whether or not there has been a breach of the 
Code of Conduct.  

When reviewing Code of Conduct complaints the Monitoring Officer, in 
consultation with an Independent Person(s), will have regard to the following 
assessment criteria: 

Adequate information The Monitoring Officer must be satisfied that there 
is sufficient information available at the “initial test 
and assessment stage” to decide whether the 
complaint should be referred for investigation or 
other action.  

The Monitoring Officer may provide other 
information which is readily available and which 
may assist in the consideration of the complaint 
“initial test and assessment stage”. This may 
include details of attendees at events, copies of 
agendas, reports and minutes of meetings or 
copies of the Members’ entry in the Register of 

37



 
Page 4 of 8 

Updated January 2019 
 

Members’ Interests. It will not include conducting 
interviews with witnesses. 

If insufficient information is available, the 
Monitoring Officer will not normally refer the 
complaint for investigation or other action. 

Official capacity The Monitoring Officer must be satisfied that that 
the Subject Member was acting in an official 
capacity. 

Timescale The Monitoring Officer will take into account when 
the events subject to the complaint took place and 
will not normally investigate or pursue other action 
if the events occurred more than 6 months prior to 
the complaint being submitted other than in 
exceptional circumstances, such as where the 
conduct relates to a pattern of behaviour which 
has recently been repeated. 

Seriousness The Monitoring Officer will not normally refer a 
matter for investigation or other action if it is 
considered trivial, malicious, vexatious, politically 
motivated or tit-for-tat. 

Where the complaint appears to relate to the 
“rough and tumble of political debate” and pertains 
to conduct between Members or Members and co-
opted Members rather than between Members and 
the public or officers, in most instances no further 
action will be taken. 

Public interest  Consideration will be given as to whether the 
public interest would be served by referring a 
complaint for investigation or other action.  

 the public interest would not normally be 
served where, for instance, a member has 
died, resigned or is seriously ill. 

 If the complaint has already been the subject of 
an investigation or other action relating to the 
Code of Conduct or the subject of an 
investigation by other regulatory authorities, it 
is unlikely that it will be referred for 
investigation or other action unless it is evident 
that the public interest will be served by further 
action being taken. 

 If the complaint relates to a former Member of 
Oxford City Council or one of the parish 
councils within the city boundary who is now a 
Member of another authority the Monitoring 
Officer may refer the matter to that authority for 

38



 
Page 5 of 8 

Updated January 2019 
 

consideration. 

Multiple Complaints  
 

A single event may give rise to similar complaints 
from a number of complainants. Where possible 
these complaints will be considered by the 
Monitoring Officer at the same time. Each 
complaint will, however, be determined separately. 
If an investigation is deemed to be appropriate the 
Monitoring Officer may decide that, in the interests 
of efficiency, only one complaint should go forward 
for investigation, with the other complainants being 
treated as potential witnesses in that investigation.  

Before reaching a decision the Monitoring Officer may request further 
information from the Complainant and the Subject Councillor or obtain 
information which is readily available such as minutes of Council meetings. If 
the complaint relates to a Parish Councillor the Monitoring Officer may consult 
the Parish Council. This will extend the timescale for dealing with the 
complaint. 

The Monitoring Officer may seek to resolve the complaint informally, without 
the need for a formal investigation.  If the Subject Councillor makes a 
reasonable offer to settle the complaint informally, but the Complainant is not 
willing to accept that offer, the Monitoring Officer will take account of this in 
deciding whether the complaint merits formal investigation. 

The Monitoring Officer will normally reach an assessment within 20 working 
days of receipt of the complaint, however, in some instances this may take 
longer.   

If the Monitoring Officer decides not to investigate the complaint he/she will 
explain why. That will be the end of the matter.   

 
 

5. How is the investigation conducted? 
 
If the Monitoring Officer decides that a complaint merits investigation, he/she 
will appoint an Investigating Officer, who may be another officer of the 
Council, an officer of another authority or an external investigator.   

 
The Investigating Officer will usually need to speak to the Complainant to 
discuss the complaint and may need to see relevant documents or interview 
other witnesses. The Complainant will be able to suggest what documents 
and which witnesses the Investigating Officer should consider seeing.  

 
The Investigating Officer will also normally see the Subject Councillor and 
provide them with the same opportunity to identify sources of evidence and 
witnesses.  

39



 
Page 6 of 8 

Updated January 2019 
 

At the end of his/her investigation, the Investigating Officer will produce a draft 
report and send it, in confidence, to the Complainant and to the Subject 
Councillor, for comment. 

The Investigating Officer will consider any comments the Complainant and/or 
the Subject Councillor make before sending the final report to the Monitoring 
Officer. 
 
 

6. What happens if the Investigating Officer concludes that 
there is no evidence of a failure to comply with the Code 
of Conduct? 

 
The Monitoring Officer will review the Investigating Officer’s report and, if 
he/she is satisfied with the quality of the investigation undertaken and that the 
Investigating Officer’s report is sufficient, the Monitoring Officer will write to 
the Complainant and to the Subject Councillor, confirming that he/she is 
satisfied that no further action is required.  A copy of the Investigating Officer’s 
final report will be provided to the Subject Councillor at that time. If the case 
concerns a Parish councillor he/she will also send a copy to the Parish 
Council concerned. That will be the end of the matter.   

If the Monitoring Officer is not satisfied that the investigation has been 
conducted properly, he/she may ask the Investigating Officer to reconsider 
his/her report.  

In considering the Investigating Officer’s report, the Monitoring Officer may 
consult with an Independent Person(s) if he/she considers it appropriate to do 
so. 

The Monitoring Officer may consider that there are “learning points” which 
should be shared with the Subject Councillor or the Standards Committee. 
 
 

7. What happens if the Investigating Officer concludes that 
there is evidence of a failure to comply with the Code of 
Conduct? 

The Monitoring Officer will review the Investigating Officer’s report and after 
consulting an Independent Person(s) will then either seek local resolution or 
send the matter for local hearing before the Standards Committee. 
 
Local Resolution 

If the Monitoring Officer thinks that the complaint can reasonably be resolved 
without the need for a hearing he/she will consult with an Independent 
Person(s) and with the Complainant and seek to agree a fair resolution. It is 
important though that any resolution also helps to ensure higher standards of 
conduct for the future.  Possible local resolutions may include the Subject 
Councillor accepting that his/her conduct was unacceptable and offering an 
apology.  If the Subject Councillor complies with the suggested resolution, the 
Monitoring Officer will report the outcome to the Standards Committee (and, 

40



 
Page 7 of 8 

Updated January 2019 
 

where relevant, to the Parish Council for information), but will take no further 
action. That will be the end of the matter. 

 
Local Hearing Panel 

If the complaint is not resolved through local resolution then the Monitoring 
Officer will refer the Investigating Officer’s report to the Standards Committee 
which will convene a Local Hearing Panel to determine whether or not the 
Code of Conduct was breached. 

The Local Hearing Panel will comprise a minimum of three elected members 
of the Standards Committee plus an Independent Person. The Monitoring 
Officer will select the membership of each Local Hearing Panel.  

This is not a Court process but, in order to be fair to everyone, formalities are 
followed so that a proper decision can be reached. 

The procedure to be followed at the Local Hearing Panel is detailed at 
Appendix 3. 

The Local Hearing Panel may conclude that the Subject Councillor did not fail 
to comply with the Code of Conduct, and so dismiss the complaint. That will 
be an end to the matter. 
 

8. What action can the Local Hearing Panel of the 
Standards Committee take when a Councillor has failed 
to comply with the Code of Conduct? 

 
If the Local Hearing Panel concludes that the Subject Councillor did fail to 
comply with the Code of Conduct, the Chair will inform the Subject Councillor 
of this finding and the Panel will then consider what action, if any, it should 
take as a result of the failure to comply with the Code of Conduct.  In doing 
this, the Panel will give the Subject Councillor an opportunity to make 
representations and will consult the Independent Person(s).  

The Local Hearing Panel may:  

 Censure or reprimand the Subject Councillor; 

 Recommend to the Subject Councillor’s group leader (or in the case 
of un-grouped members, recommend to Council) that he/she be 
removed from any or all Committee or Sub-Committees of the 
Council; 

 Recommend to the Leader of the Council that the Subject Councillor 
be removed from the City Executive Board, or removed from 
particular portfolio responsibilities; 

 Recommend to Council that the Subject Councillor be replaced as 
Executive Leader; 

 Instruct the Monitoring Officer to, or recommend that a Parish Council, 
arrange training for the Subject Councillor. 

 Publish its findings in respect of the Subject Councillor’s conduct; 

41



 
Page 8 of 8 

Updated January 2019 
 

 Report its findings to Council, or to a Parish Council, for information; 

The Local Hearing Panel has no power to suspend or disqualify the member 
or to withdraw or suspend allowances or restrict access to or use of Council 
facilities. 

Within 10 working days the Monitoring Officer will prepare a formal decision 
notice, in consultation with the Chair of the Local Hearing Panel, and send a 
copy to the Complainant, to the Subject Councillor (and to the Parish Council 
if appropriate).  

The decision notice will be published as part of the minutes of the Local 
Hearing Panel meeting and will be placed on the Council’s website unless the 
Monitoring Officer determines that it should remain confidential or it contains 
exempt information. 

 

9. Timescales 

The timescales quoted below are indicative. They are not guaranteed and are 
included here to illustrate the likely duration of the complaints process. Actual 
timescales may be significantly shorter or longer depending on the complexity 
and content of the complaint. 

 
Stage in complaints process Indicative timescales  

Acknowledge receipt of 
complaint or dismissal of invalid 
complaints 

within 5 working days of receipt of 
complaint 

Assessment stage decision Issued to Subject Councillor and 
Complainant within 25 working days of 
receipt of complaint 

Investigation A formal investigation normally takes 
around 8 - 12 weeks from the 
appointment of an appropriate 
investigator  

Local Hearing Panel within 25 working days of receipt of the 
final investigation report – which 
includes:  

 10 working days to prepare hearing 
papers and hold any pre-hearing 
meetings 

 10 working days for Subject 
Councillor to submit a response to 
the Investigator’s report and hearing 
papers 

 5 working days for agenda 
publication  

Local Hearing Panel decision  Issued to Subject Councillor and 
Complainant  and published within 10 
working days of the Local Hearing Panel 
meeting 

42



 
Page 9 of 8 

Updated January 2019 
 

 
10. Appeals 

There is no right of appeal for the Complainant or for the Subject Councillor 
against a decision of the Monitoring Officer or of the Standards Committee. 

However, the Monitoring Officer reports these decisions to the Council’s 
Standards Committee so there is oversight of how these matters are dealt 
with. 
 

11. Document Retention 

The documentation relating to a complaint will be retained for 6 years from the 
conclusion of the complaint, irrespective of the outcome of the complaint. 
Minutes of the Standards Committee will be retained in the same way as the 
minutes of other council decision making bodies. 
 

12. Revision of these arrangements 

The Council may by resolution agree to amend these arrangements. The 
Standards Committee, on the advice of the Monitoring Officer, may depart 
from these arrangements where it is necessary to do so in order to secure the 
effective and fair consideration of any matter. 
 

 

43



:  

 

 

 

 Annex 1: Flow chart for code of conduct complaints against councillors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Complaint 

submitted 

Complaint 

dismissed 

Complaint  
referred to  

police 

Assessment  

Complaint assessed by 
Monitoring Officer and 
Independent Person 

 

Initial Filter 

Monitoring Officer will 
determine whether complaint 

is valid, to be referred to police 
or dismissed. 

 

Investigation 
Monitoring Officer will appoint 

Investigation Officer where 
complaint merits formal 

investigation 

 

No further 
action 

 

Breach of 
the Code 

of Conduct 
 

Standards Committee 

Local Hearing 

 

Local Resolution 

Facilitated by the 
Monitoring Officer 

 

Decision 
Notice 

 

Informal Resolution 

Facilitated by the 
Monitoring Officer 

 

No breach  
 

44



Annex 2: Glossary of terms 

 

Complainant(s)  The person/people making the complaint. 

Initial tests and 
assessment stage  

A meeting or discussion between the Monitoring Officer 
and an Independent Person to consider a complaint 
against the initial tests and assessment criteria. 

Local Hearing  A meeting of the Local Hearing Panel of the Standards 
Committee at which they consider whether the “Subject 
Councillor” has breached the code of conduct. 

Independent person  The Council must appoint at least one Independent 
Person and seek that person’s views before it takes 
decision on a complaint that it has decided to 
investigate. The Independent Person’s views can also 
be sought by the council on any other issue in the 
complaints handling process. The Independent Person 
will also provide, on request, procedural advice to a 
Subject Councillor. 

Investigator   The person appointed by the Monitoring Officer to 
undertake a formal investigation. This may involve the 
appointment of an investigating officer, who may be 
another officer of the council, an officer of another 
council or an external investigator. 

Legal advisor  The officer responsible for providing legal advice to the 
Local Hearing Panel of the Standards Committee. This 
may be the Monitoring Officer, another legally qualified 
officer, or someone appointed for this purpose from 
outside the council. 

Monitoring officer  The Monitoring Officer is a senior officer of the council 
who has statutory responsibility for maintaining the 
register of councillors’ interests and who is responsible 
for administering the system in respect of complaints of 
councillor misconduct. 

Public interest Public Interest considerations are at the heart of this 
process. The Monitoring Officer must balance the 
appropriate use of public resource in dealing with 
complaints with the extent to which it may be in the 
public interest to take further action, and what that 
further action should be (informal resolution of a formal 
investigation perhaps leading to a finding of a breach of 
the code and sanctions being imposed). 

Subject Councillor  The councillor, co-optee, or parish councillor against 
whom an allegation has been made. 

 

 

45



 

 
 

Local Hearing Panel of the 
Standards Committee  

Procedure to be followed for code of 
conduct complaints against 
councillors 

Introduction 

Where the Monitoring Officer considers that it is in the public interest for a 
complaint to be considered by the Standards Committee, a Local Hearing Panel 
will be convened to determine whether the Subject Councillor has failed to 
comply with the code of conduct.  

The Monitoring Officer will seek to convene the Local Hearing Panel within 25 
working days of receipt of the final Investigator’s report. 

The Local Hearing Panel will comprise a minimum of three elected members of 
the Standards Committee plus an Independent Person. The Monitoring Officer 
will select the membership of each Local Hearing Panel.  
 
Definitions 

Complainant(s)  The person/people making the complaint. 

Subject Councillor  The councillor, co-optee, or parish councillor against 
whom an allegation has been made. 

Appointed 
Representative 

The Subject Councillor may be represented or 
accompanied during the meeting by a Solicitor, 
Counsel or, with the permission of the Local Hearing, 
another person. 

Local Hearing 
Panel 

A meeting of a panel of three members of the 
Standards Committee at which they consider whether 
the “Subject Councillor” has breached the code of 
conduct. 

Independent 
person  

An Independent Person will be invited by the 
Monitoring Officer to attend a Local Hearing Panel and 
their views are sought and taken into consideration 
before the Local Hearing takes any decision on 
whether the Subject Councillor’s conduct constitutes a 
failure to comply with the Code of conduct and as to 
any action to be taken following a finding of failure to 
comply with the Code of Conduct. 

Investigator   The person appointed by the Monitoring Officer to 
undertake a formal investigation. This may involve the 
appointment of an investigating officer, who may be 
another officer of the council, an officer of another 
council or an external investigator. 

Legal advisor  The officer responsible for providing legal advice to the 
Local Hearing Panel. This may be the Monitoring 
Officer, another legally qualified officer, or someone 
appointed for this purpose from outside the council. 

Annex 3 

46



   
 

Page 2 of 4 
Updated January 2019 

 
 

 

Pre-hearing processes  

The Monitoring Officer will invite the Subject Councillor to give his/her response 
in writing to Investigator’s report. This is done to establish what is likely to be 
agreed and what is likely to be in dispute at the hearing.  

The Local Hearing Panel, taking account of the advice of the Monitoring Officer, 
may issue directions about the way in which the Local Hearing will be 
conducted, for example agreeing the number and identity of witnesses. Such 
directions may be given either before or at the Local Hearing Panel, and may be 
decide at a meeting or by correspondence involving all member of the panel. 
Any meeting to deal with pre-hearing process issues will be held in private 
without the Complainant or the Subject Councillor present.  
 
Documentation 

Local Hearing Panel meetings of the Standards Committee are subject to the 
normal rules for publication of council agendas and access to information. 

The agenda papers for the Local Hearing Panel will include: 

 Monitoring Officer report 

 Complaint form and documentation 

 Investigator’s report 

 Subject Councillor’s written response 

 For reference: Code of Conduct, Standards Committee Local Hearing 
Panel procedure  

The agenda and documents will be published under the Council’s rules for 
exempt information.  Prior to the Local Hearing Panel, any documentation 
issued or exchanged during the process must be treated by all recipients as 
confidential unless and until the Local Hearing Panel agrees that the press and 
public should not be excluded from the meeting at which the allegations are 
going to be heard.  

If the Local Hearing Panel agrees that the meeting should be held in public, the 
investigator’s report will be made available to the press and public in attendance 
at the meeting.  
 
Local Hearing Panel procedure  

The Local Hearing Panel will follow normal committee procedures for apologies, 
selection of a Chair for that meeting and declarations of interest.  

At the Local Hearing Panel, the Monitoring Officer or Legal Adviser will introduce 
the case that the Subject Councillor has failed to comply with the code of 
conduct.  

The Investigator will present his/her report, call such witnesses as necessary 
(which may include the Complainant) and make representations to substantiate 
the conclusion that the Councillor has failed to comply with the Code of 
Conduct.   

47



   
 

Page 3 of 4 
Updated January 2019 

 
 

The Subject Councillor (or appointed representative) will then have an 
opportunity to give his/her evidence, to call witnesses and to make 
representations about why he/she considers that he/she did not fail to comply 
with the code of conduct.  

Normal hearing rules will apply in terms of providing opportunities to question 
witnesses and test evidence, subject to the principles of natural justice. 

If the Subject Councillor (or appointed representative) is not present, then the 
Local Hearing Panel will consider whether to proceed to hear the case and 
make a decision in absence, or whether to adjourn the hearing to another time 
or date. If the Subject Councillor has indicated that the hearing should carry on 
without him/her this will normally happen.  

The Local Hearing Panel may take legal advice from its legal advisor at any time 
during the meeting or while they are considering the outcome. The substance of 
any legal advice given to the Local Hearing Panel would be shared in the public 
domain with the Subject Councillor and the Investigator if they are attending the 
hearing. 

The Local Hearing Panel will request that all persons leave the room while they 
consider whether or not there has been a breach of the code of conduct.  
 
If there is no evidence of a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct 

If the Local Hearing Panel concludes that the Subject Councillor did not fail to 
comply with the code of conduct it will dismiss the complaint and no further 
action will be taken.  

In that event, the Local Hearing Panel may still make general recommendations 
to the Council or Parish Council on any remedial actions if considers necessary 
to address the issues raised.  
 

If there is evidence of a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct 

If the Local Hearing Panel determines that the Subject Councillor has failed to 
comply with the code of conduct, the Chair will inform the Subject Councillor of 
this finding. The Independent Person will give his/her views on the matter, which 
will be recorded in the minutes of the meeting. The Chair of the Local Hearing 
Panel will explain the reasons why any advice from the Independent Person has 
or has not been followed in giving its decision.  

The Local Hearing Panel will then consider what action, if any, it should take as 
a result. The Local Hearing Panel will give the Subject Councillor an opportunity 
to make representations about that and will consult the Independent Person 
deciding what action, if any, to take.  

The Local Hearing Panel will request that all persons leave the room while they 
consider whether or not to impose a sanction on the Subject Councillor and, if 
so, what the sanction should be. 
 
Remedies  

48



   
 

Page 4 of 4 
Updated January 2019 

 
 

The Council has delegated to the Standards Committee powers to take action in 
respect of individual councillors as may be necessary to promote and maintain 
high standards of conduct. Accordingly the Local Hearing Panel may:  

 Censure or reprimand the Subject Councillor; 

 Recommend to the Subject Councillor’s group leader (or in the case of un-
grouped members, recommend to Council or to Committees) that he/she be 
removed from any or all Committee or Sub-Committees of the Council; 

 Recommend to the Leader of the Council that the Subject Councillor be 
removed from the City Executive Board, or removed from particular portfolio 
responsibilities; 

 Recommend to Council that the Subject Councillor be replaced as Executive 
Leader; 

 Instruct the Monitoring Officer to, or recommend that a Parish Council, arrange 
training for the Subject Councillor. 

 Publish its findings in respect of the Subject Councillor’s conduct; 

 Report its findings to Council, or to a Parish Council, for information; 

 

The Local Hearing Panel has no power to suspend or disqualify the member or 
to withdraw or suspend allowances or restrict access to or use of Council 
facilities. 
 
Recommendations to the Council / Parish Council 

The Local Hearing Panel will consider whether it should make any 
recommendations to the City or Parish Council with a view to promoting high 
standards of conduct among councillors. 
 

The Decision 

The Monitoring Officer will, within 10 working days of the Local Hearing Panel,  
prepare a formal decision notice, in consultation with the Chair of the Local 
Hearing Panel, and send a copy to the Complainant, to the Subject Councillor 
(and to the Parish Council if appropriate).   

The decision notice will be published as part of the minutes of the Standards 
Committee Local Hearing Panel meeting and will be placed on the Council’s 
website unless the Monitoring Officer determines that it should remain 
confidential or it contains exempt information. 

The Monitoring Officer will be responsible for the implementation of the 
decision of the Local Hearing Panel. The findings and recommendations of the 
Local Hearing Panel (as implemented by the Monitoring Officer) are final. 
 
Departure from these arrangements 

The Chair of the Standards Committee or the Chair of the Local Hearing Panel 
has the right to depart from this procedure, in consultation with the Monitoring 
Officer or Legal Advisor, at any hearing where he/she considers that it is 
sensible to do so to deal with the case fairly and effectively.  

49



 
 

Page 1 of 6 
 

Complaint Form – for code of conduct 

complaints against councillors  

 
Please use this form if you wish to make a Code of Conduct 
complaint against City or Parish Councillors and co-opted 
members. 
 
If you would like to discuss your concerns informally before submitting a complaint, 
or if you need any support in completing this form, please contact Democratic 
Services on 01865 252402 or email democraticservices@oxford.gov.uk.  
 
 
Please note 

 Complaints can only be accepted in writing or by email 

 The Council is unlikely to be able to keep your identity or the information you 
have provided confidential if you make a complaint. If you have serious concerns 
about disclosure of your name and a summary of your complaint, please 
complete section 6 on confidential information. 

 An officer from the Council may contact you personally to go through the details 
of your complaint. 

  
Please send the completed form together with any attachments to: 

The Monitoring Officer 
Law & Governance 
Oxford City Council 
St Aldate’s Chambers 
St Aldate’s 
Oxford  
OX1 1DS 
 
Or by e-mail to: standards@oxford.gov.uk 
 

  

Annex 4 

50

mailto:standards@oxford.gov.uk


   
 

Updated January 2019 
Page 2 of 6 

 

Section 1: Your details 

Title: 

 

 

 

 First name:  

Last name:  

Address:  

 

 

 

 

Daytime telephone:  

Mobile telephone:  

Email address:  

Please consider the complaint I have described below and in the evidence 
attached. I understand and accept that my name will normally be disclosed to the 
Councillor and any parties involved in the complaints procedure or outside 
authorities required to monitor the Council’s complaints procedure by law.  My 
personal details provided on this form may also be shared with the police in the 
prevention or detection of crime. 

 
Signed:  Date:  

 

 

As the complainant, please indicate the categories which best describe you: 

 Member of the public 

 Elected/Co-opted Member of a Council or Parish Council (please specify): 

 

 Independent Member of the Standards Committee 

 Local Authority Monitoring Officer 

 Member of Parliament 

 City Council employee 

 Parish Council employee (please specify): 

 Other (Please specify) 

 

  

51



   
 

Updated January 2019 
Page 3 of 6 

 

Section 2: Who are you complaining about? 

Please give the name of the Councillor(s) or Co-opted Member(s) of Oxford City 
Council or Parish Council that you believe have breached the Code of Conduct: 

Title First name Last name Council or Parish Council 
name  

 
 

   

    

    

    

 

Section 3: If your complaint concerns a Member of Oxford City 
Council please indicate which sections of the Members’ Code of 
Conduct have been breached? 

Paragraph Behaviour  

3 Selflessness  

4 Objectivity  

5 Accountability  

6 Openness  

7 Honesty and Integrity  

8 Leadership  

General Obligations  

9 Respect for others  

10 Bullying  

11 Impartiality  

12 Confidential information  

13 Knowledge  

14 Professional advice  

15 Council resources  

16 - 19 Registering and declaring interests  

 
 

52



   
 

Updated January 2019 
Page 4 of 6 

 

Section 4: What are you complaining about? 

Please provide us with as much information as you can about your complaint to help 
us decide whether or not it should be investigated.  Include the date and details of 
the alleged misconduct, and any information that supports the allegation.   
 

WHY are you complaining 
about them? - say what went 
on, how you felt about it and 
why you think it is 
unacceptable or inappropriate.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

WHAT did they do? If it 
relates to their language or 
behaviour write down what they 
actually said/did as you need to 
say what they did that was 
unacceptable to you 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

WHEN did this take place?  

Be specific on the dates and 
times  

 
 
 
 
 

WHERE? - be specific where it 
all took place - give the 
address and also the details of 
the venue - was it in a meeting 
room/corridor/in the street/in 
the pub etc 

 

WITNESS - who else was there 
and heard what went on - you 
need to name the persons who 
can potentially be asked 
questions about the incident(s)  

 
 

OTHER -    

 

 

 

 

You can continue on a separate sheet if there is not enough space on this form. 

 

  

53



   
 

Updated January 2019 
Page 5 of 6 

 

Section 5: Evidence (if this applies) 

It is essential that you give evidence to support your complaint, otherwise the 
Monitoring Officer may not be able to decide if what you say should be investigated.  

 
Please attach copies of any correspondence, documents, names and contact details 
of witnesses, and any other evidence that you feel is relevant to your complaint.  
Please avoid sending us large amounts of background information that only relate 
indirectly to your complaint. 
 
Please list the documents you have enclosed: 
 

1. 
 

 
 

2. 
 

 
 

3. 
 

 
 

4. 
 

 
 

5. 
 

 
 

6. 
 

 
 

 
 
Section 6: Previous complaint 

To your knowledge has a Code of Conduct complaint about this issue previously 
been submitted? 

 

YES NO 

 
Section 7: Possible remedy 

Whilst not acknowledging that your complaint is justified and without prejudice, it 
would help with the assessment of your complaint to know what your desired 
outcome might be. If you feel able to provide this information please indicate the 
remedy or remedies you are looking for or hoping to achieve by submitting this 
complaint.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

54



   
 

Updated January 2019 
Page 6 of 6 

 

Section 8: Confidential information (only complete this section if 
you are requesting that your identity is kept anonymous) 

In the interests of fairness and natural justice, we believe councillors who are 
complained about have a right to know who has made the complaint.  We also 
believe that they have a right to be provided with a copy of that complaint.   
 
Your identity will normally be disclosed to the councillor concerned unless you have 
good reason to request the withholding of this information. Such reasons, in 
exceptional circumstances, might involve one or more of the following:  
 

Please tick the appropriate box if you consider there are grounds for keeping your 
complaint anonymous  

Clear risk of physical harm if identity is disclosed   

Possible consequence to employment status  
 

Reasonable fear of intimidation or victimisation  
 

Medical condition  
 

Please provide details of why you believe we should withhold your name and/or 
details of your complaint: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The Monitoring Officer will consider the request for identity to be withheld alongside 
the substance of your complaint. We will then contact you with the decision. If your 
request for confidentiality is not granted, we will usually allow you the option of 
withdrawing your complaint.  
 
However, it is important to understand that in certain exceptional circumstances 
where the matter complained about is very serious, we can proceed with an 
investigation or other action and disclose your name even if you have expressly 
asked us not to. 
 
 
 

55



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

To: Standards Committee 

Date: 25 February 2019 

Report of: Monitoring Officer  

Title of Report:  Member training  

 

Summary and recommendations 

Purpose of report: To evaluate the programme of training delivered to 
members in 2018, agree outline proposals for training in 
2019-2020 and note the proposed approach for a new 
member development and training programme for the 
municipal years 2020-24. 

Recommendations: That the Standards Committee resolves to:  

1.  Note the evaluation of the programme of training delivered to members in 
2018; 

2.  Endorse the arrangements for the member training programme for 2019-20 
based on the proposals set out in Appendix 2;  

3.  Endorse the proposed approach for the development of a new member 
development and training programme for the municipal years 2020-24.  

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 Evaluation of induction and member training 2018 

Appendix 2 Member training programme 2019-20 

Appendix 3 Member development and training 2020-2024 

Introduction and background  

1. In November 2018 Council adopted a revised Constitution which included a change 
to broaden the remit of the Standards Committee to enable the committee to 
receive reports from and advise the Monitoring Officer on all member training, not 
just training on ethical issues.   
 

2. The current arrangements for member training date from 2014 when a Cross Party 
Working Group agreed a four year programme of compulsory training in Code of 
Conduct, Licensing and Planning to ensure that all members were equipped with a 

57

Agenda Item 6



basic understanding of their duties as councillors and had a good general 
knowledge of their role and responsibilities.  In 2016 those arrangements were 
amended so that planning training became compulsory only in an election year.  At 
the same time greater emphasis was placed on providing a series of optional 
training courses on topics aimed at improving councillors’ skills and knowledge. 

 
3. In 2018 it was agreed based on feedback from members that the existing 

arrangements for member training should continue and that any plans for a more 
thorough review of the member training programme should coincide with the “all out 
elections” in May 2020. 

4. The current member training programme is based on the following principles:  
 

 

 
Induction 2018 

5. All new and re-elected members were required to attend a formal induction session 
on either 8 May 2018 (morning) or 10 May 2018 (eve).  

6. A new element in the formal induction programme was the introduction of a round 
table discussion session facilitated by the Chief Executive and Executive Directors 
which sought to capture the issues and concerns identified during campaigning and 
to explore the challenges facing the Council.  This replaced the power-point 
presentations from the Chief Executive and Executive Directors which had been the 
mainstay of previous induction programmes. 

7. A second initiative was to hold a lunch or supper reception at the end of the formal 
induction programme and invite directors and service heads to attend.  These 
receptions proved a success and provided a good opportunity for members, 
directors and service heads to initiate a personal dialogue.   

8. The formal induction programme lasted about 3 hours and covered: 

In election years (2018): 
• All new members to attend compulsory code of conduct training before 

they attend any committee meeting and all existing/re-elected members 
to attend code of conduct training before 31 July.   

• All new members of a licensing committee to attended compulsory 
licensing training before they attend a licensing sub-committee and all 
existing/re-elected members of the licensing committees to attend 
licensing training before 31 July.   

• All new members to attend compulsory planning training before they 
attend a planning committee and all existing/re-elected members to 
attend planning training before 31 July.   

In non-election years (2019):  
• All members to attend compulsory code of conduct training before 31 

July. 
• All licensing committee members to attend compulsory licensing training 

before 31 July. 

• All members to be invited to attend optional planning seminars during 
the year. 

58



 Code of Conduct training – necessary to ensure that all new and returning 
members could attend Annual Council 

 an introduction to the principles of Ward Member spend and CIL 

 an introduction to Committee & Member Services including an overview of 
the roles and responsibilities of members and the members’ allowances 
scheme. 

9. There was also a personal session for each member with their “buddy” (an officer 
in the Committee and Member Services Team who provides general support and 
acts as the members’ first point of contact) to deal with the practical issues of 
becoming a councillor (e.g. signing of forms, ICT equipment issue and set up, 
passes, photos etc).  As far as possible these sessions took place on the 
induction days and on average lasted about 2 hours.  

10. In January 2019 the Committee & Member Service Manager contacted all of the 
councillors who had been newly elected in May 2018 to canvass their views about 
how the organisation supported them immediately after the election and into the 
municipal year.  

11. Based on the responses received officers consider that the following elements 
might be included in future induction and member support programmes: 

 Topical briefings on key issues (e.g. climate change) and the work of key 
services (e.g. Community Services) at an earlier stage of the municipal year 
so that all councillors are fully informed.   

 Training on committee skills, including chairing and information about 
motion/debate procedures 

 Providing “mental health” support and/or pastoral care for councillors dealing 
with casework 

 Better and easier access to a directory of key staff and service contacts (a 
stand-alone document of “Key Contacts” was issued to supplement the 
phone and intranet directories, and this continues to be updated – but is no 
substitute for an effective on line search facility)  

 A tour of St. Aldate’s Chambers and a fuller tour of the Town Hall 

 Doing more to encourage people to stand for election 
 

Proposal: Include optional training on committee/chairing skills in 2019/20 
and future programmes; explore scope to provide pastoral care for 
councillors; look at improving dissemination of key contact information; 
provide key topic briefings soon after elections; look at scope to improve 
democratic engagement.  

 
Oath of Office 

12. At the Chief Executive’s request an appointment system was introduced so that all 
councillors were able to sign the oath of office in a more meaningful way in the 
days immediately after the election. The majority of these appointments were 
scheduled for the two induction days or in advance of the Annual Council meeting 
(members can’t formally act as a councillor until they have signed the oath of 

59



office). Although this represents a significant demand on the Chief Executive’s 
time it is felt that this is justified in terms of the benefits afforded by creating an 
opportunity for the Chief Executive and councillors to meet privately at the start of 
the municipal year.  

 
13. Equally important is the recognition that the signing of the oath of office is a 

significant step for a councillor and should be marked as a formal occasion.  In 
future an officer will be available to photograph the occasion and a copy of the 
signed Oath of Office will be given to the councillor to keep.  

 
Proposal: Schedule individual appointment system for oath of office signing 
as part of 2020-2024 member development and training programme and 
offer to provide signed copy of the oath of office and a photograph to 
councillors.  

 
Buddying 

14. In previous years the Committee and Member Services team have operated an 
informal “buddying” arrangement with new councillors. This arrangement was 
formalised in 2018 and each new councillor was allocated a “buddy” from the 
Committee and Member Services team and encouraged to use that officer as their 
first point of contact.  The “buddy” provided close support during the induction and 
the first few weeks particularly in relation to the ICT set up and to facilitate 
introductions to service areas and explain committee procedures. 

 
15. The frequency and formality of the “buddy” meetings varied according to the 

needs and wishes of the individual councillors. Committee and Member Services 
use a checklist of key topics/issues as a prompt to ensure that new councillors 
have been briefed on the tools they need to operate effectively as a councillor. 

 
16. Informal feedback from both the “buddy” and the “buddied” has been positive and 

in most cases the arrangements have continued throughout the year. 
 

Proposal: Retain the practice of “buddying” for new councillors and explore 
best practice for implementation as part of the 2020-2024 member 
development and training programme.  

 
Service areas and casework 

17. Understanding the work of the service areas and managing casework is a key 
area of training and support for new councillors. The challenge is to find an 
approach which balances the varied needs of councillors with the demands on the 
time of front line officers.  Past experience is that offering service area 
presentations as part of the induction programme and running service area open 
days have limited impact and are poorly attended.  

 
18. In 2018 members were offered an “introductory briefing” session for Oxford Direct 

Services, Housing Services and Community Services.  The sessions were 
targeted at new councillors, but open to other councillors.  Two dates were offered 
in June and July (one daytime and one evening) for a 2 hour introduction to each 

60



service area. However, take up was very low, with just one or two councillors 
attending three separate sessions.   

 
19. In practice it would seem that councillors find it easier to make direct contact with 

service area teams in relation to specific case work issues. 
 

Proposal: Review other options and best practice as part of the 2020-2024 
member development and training programme.  

 
Compulsory training sessions 2018 

20. Dates for the compulsory training sessions were scheduled for May, June and 
July as part of the annual calendar of meetings with members offered daytime or 
evening sessions for Code of Conduct and Planning training.  Licensing training, 
which is compulsory for members appointed to licensing committees, was 
scheduled to coincide with meetings of those committees. 

  
21. Detailed analysis of each of the three compulsory training subjects is set out in 

Appendix 1.  
 
Optional training programme 2018-19 

22. To complement the compulsory training programme a range of optional training 
has been offered to councillors:   

2018 Attendees 

24 September Local Authority Finance & Budgets 8 

30 October Planning: NPPF and Policy  9 

21 November Safeguarding (2 daytime sessions) 13 

28 November Planning: interpreting reports and material considerations 5 

2019  

9 January Safeguarding (evening session) 7 

31 January  Safeguarding (daytime session) 3 

11 February  Planning: Key Urban Design Principles 8 

14 March  Planning: Permitted Development and Enforcement   

20 March Safeguarding  

4 April Safeguarding  

 
23. These sessions targeted the needs of the new councillors but were open to all.  

Committee and Member Services reserve the right to cancel any training session 
with fewer than 6 confirmed attendees.  All of the training courses are delivered by 
Council officers. 

 
Proposal: Continue to offer optional member training sessions as required 
in 2019-20 and explore best practice for implementation as part of the 2020-
2024 member development and training programme.  

 
Briefing sessions 2018-19 

24. Provisional dates for a member briefing session were scheduled monthly 
throughout 2018-19 and published as part of the annual calendar of meetings. 
Councillors are sent regular invitations and reminders about the different sessions 

61



and encouraged to sign up to attend.  To date the following sessions have taken 
place: 

2018 Attendees 

15 March Housing and Homelessness  7 

27 June AirBnB  9 

21 August Housing Benefit and Universal Credit  6 

20 Sept Major Projects & Property work  10 

8 Nov Chief Constable and Police & Crime Commissioner 13 

2019  

31 January  Housing Benefit and Universal Credit (repeat) 9 

26 March  Housing and Homelessness  

17 April To be confirmed  

 
25. Low attendance has been an issue in the past but this has improved slightly in 

recent years.  Committee and Member Services reserve the right to cancel any 
briefing session with fewer than 6 confirmed attendees.   

 
26. The briefings are delivered by Council officers and the City Executive Board 

Portfolio Holder is encouraged to attend to provide support and a political 
perspective. After the briefing the presentation material is published via the 
ModGov.app so that the information is available to those councillors who were 
unable to attend.  

 
Proposal: Continue to offer member briefing sessions as required in 2019-
20 and seek members’ views and explore best practice for implementation 
as part of the 2020-2024 member development and training programme.  

 
Resource Library 

27. The Committee and Member Services team continue to build up an on-line 
“resource library” of briefing and training materials from within the Council.  The 
“resource library” is available to councillors via the ModGov system. Content 
includes: 

 Copies of presentation material from specific training or briefing sessions 

 Links to publicly available material to support those training or briefing sessions 

 Links to LGA Handbooks and other professional information to support those 
training or briefing sessions 

 

Proposal: Continue to build up the on-line “resource library” with up to date 
information as required in 2019-20 and increase the profile with members.  

 
Individual member attendance at external training courses 2018/19 

28.   Council has allocated £2.5k per year for external short course training for 
members and £3k for external conference attendance. Individual members can 
make requests to the Head of Law and Governance for external training or 
conference attendance with the support of their group leader. Recent uses of this 
funding include attendance at the following courses or events: 

a. A culture and tourism conference 

62



b. A cycling conference 
c. A conference on supporting women experiencing homelessness 
d. Social media training for two councillors 
e. Unconscious bias training for members of the Appointments Committee 
f. Planning training for all members 

 
Proposals for the member training programme for 2019/20 

29. Proposals for the 2019-20 training programme are set out in Appendix 2. 
 
Proposals for a member training programme for 2020-2024 

30. Proposals for the 2020-24 training programme are set out in Appendix 3. 

 
Conclusion 

31. The Standards Committee continues to review the training programme on offer 
and encourages members to come forward with their views and suggestions for 
improvement. 

 
Legal implications 

32. This report has no direct legal implications for the Council.   
 
Financial implications 

33. This report has no direct financial implications for the Council. The development 
and delivery of specific training courses in future years will require appropriate 
budgetary provision (the current budget for member training is £2.5k). 

 
Risk management 

34. The provision of appropriate training and development courses for councillors is 
necessary to support good governance and decision making. Failure to do this 
places the Council at risk of reputational damage and legal challenge.  

 

 

Report author Catherine Phythian 

Job title Committee and Member Services  

Service area or department Law and Governance 

Telephone  01865 252402  

e-mail  cphythian@oxford.gov.uk 

 

 

63



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 

Evaluation of the member training programme in 2018 

 

 
Introduction 

1. As 2018 was an election year the following principles applied to the member 
training programme: 

 All new members to attend compulsory code of conduct training before they 
attend any committee meeting and all existing/re-elected members to attend 
code of conduct training before 31 July.   

 All new members of a licensing committee to attended compulsory licensing 
training before they attend a licensing sub-committee and all existing/re-
elected members of the licensing committees to attend licensing training 
before 31 July.   

 All new members to attend compulsory planning training before they attend 
a planning committee and all existing/re-elected members to attend 
planning training before 31 July.   

 
2. All of the Member training sessions took place in the Town Hall using the St 

Aldate’s Room, the Plowman Room or the Long Room. The sessions were of 
one to two hours duration. 

   
3. The aim was to promote member participation and the preferred format was a 

presentation, followed by discussion and questions on scenario based 
examples.  

 
4. As far as possible copies of the training documents were made available on line 

and in hard copy at the individual training sessions. Links to further reading and 
learning sources was also supplied. 

 
Evaluation 

Code of Conduct 

5. This was compulsory for all 481 members and was delivered by the Monitoring 
Officer on the dates listed below: 

Date Day Time  Attendance 

31 May  Thurs 10.00 – 12.00pm 5 

4 June  Tues 5.30 - 7.30pm 13 

19 June Mon 2.00 - 4.00pm 8 

20 July (reserve) Fri 2.00 – 4.00pm 2 

 
6. In addition a total of 19 new and re-elected members received their Code of 

Conduct training as part of the induction programme.  However, they were 
encouraged to attend one of the additional sessions in order to share the 
experiences of established councillors and so derive the maximum benefit from 
the training available (repeat attendances are not shown in the figures above). 

                                            
1
 For some compulsory training sessions the final attendance level was 47 as one councillor was 

granted a dispensation due to ill health. 

65



Appendix 1 

Evaluation of the member training programme in 2018 

 

 
7. In addition to the core content these sessions also provided a brief introduction 

to general safeguarding issues and the new General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR) regulations. 

8. Feedback forms were completed by 40% of the attendees.  The data captured 
is presented in the chartsbelow.  

9. Comments were generally positive:  

Very interesting & enjoyable. Good discussion of cases & ethical dilemma. Very clear 
presentation of the key issues. The session brought a number of issues into stark 
focus. Very helpful. 
 

10. The main criticism was around time management of the sessions and the need 
to make sure that there was sufficient time to work through the case studies in 
smaller groups.   

 
11. Proposal: Greater emphasis on interactive learning with smaller group 

discussions and case studies; safeguarding to be covered as a separate 
training session.  

 
 

Licensing 

12. In 2018 a compulsory training session was scheduled immediately after the 
initial meeting of the two licensing committees in order to maximise attendance 
levels and ensure that sufficient committee members would be able to sit on 
casework hearings.  Two separate training sessions were offered in parallel: a 
refresher course for existing licensing committee members and an induction 
course for any newly appointed members of the licensing committee. 

 
13. This proved to be a very efficient use of councillor and officer time as 75% of 

the committee members attended this session.   All the remaining councillors, 
with one exception, were trained on two reserve dates which were scheduled 
immediately after subsequent licensing committee meetings in July and 
September. A fourth and final training session was held in January 2019 for the 
one remaining original committee and a newly appointed committee member. 

 
14. This was compulsory for 18 members and was delivered by the officers from 

Licensing and Law & Governance on the dates listed below: 

Date Day Time  Attendance 

16 May  Weds Eve 9 

2 July  Mon Eve 5 

19 Sept Weds Eve 2 

23 Jan 2019 Weds Eve 2 
 
15. Feedback forms were completed by 86% of the attendees at the first two 

sessions. The data captured is presented in the charts below.  

66



Appendix 1 

Evaluation of the member training programme in 2018 

 

 
16. There was a lot of praise for the content and format of the sessions which 

placed a lot of emphasis on case studies and included an interactive quiz:  

 Illustrated case studies particularly good & thought provoking.  Very useful, clear 
information.  Good balance of information & audience participation 

 

17. Proposal: Follow same approach and format. Explore scope to expand 
case studies to include a mock hearing to test decision making.   

 

Planning 

18. Planning training was compulsory for 48 members and was scheduled on the 
dates listed below: 

Date Day Time  Attendance 

14 May  afternoon 12 

evening 10 

17 May  evening 7 

5 June  afternoon 8 

26 June  evening 5 

24 July Reserve  afternoon 5 
 
19. The compulsory planning training offered in 2018 differed from previous years 

as it included two sessions which were delivered by an external trainer. The 
Head of Planning Services had provided a brief for the external trainer (who 
was a professional planner, experienced trainer and local councillor) for a half- 
day introductory session, aimed at new councillors, on local authority planning 
with an emphasis on practical advice and exercises. 

 
20. Feedback forms for the 14 May sessions presented by the external trainer were 

completed by 95% of the 22 attendees. The data captured is shown in the 
presented in the charts below. Attendees at each session included experienced 
councillors and some officers as well as the newly elected members. 

 
21. Opinion was clearly divided about this training module.  The main criticisms 

concerned the lack of time management; the large volume of presentation 
slides; and the limited amount of time available for group discussion around 
practical exercises and case studies.  The positive messages were about the 
quality of the information contained within the slides and the knowledge of the 
trainer. 

Good discussion, covered a lot of slides in short time; may have been a bit of a whistle 
stop for a new councillor. Trainer went too fast through the slides; would have been 
better to start with case studies & planning process.  I would not have felt confident to 
take part in a committee after training.  Separate sessions for new & experienced 
Councillors.  Trainer well equipped to deliver session; but too much material to be 
covered satisfactorily; skimming through slides frustrating for audience & trainer; 
practical advice was at end of session - would have been better for new councillors to 
cover this earlier.  

67



Appendix 1 

Evaluation of the member training programme in 2018 

 

 
22. Clearly this session failed in its overall objective of equipping new members 

with sufficient information to participate with confidence in the work of the area 
planning committees. 

 
23. Feedback forms for the other sessions presented by officers from Planning and 

Law & Governance were completed by 84% of the 25 attendees.  
 
24. The “internal” sessions were generally well received.  The main theme 

emerging was around time management and the length of the presentations 
which limited the chance to work on case studies. There were also some 
concerns about the degree of overlap with the Code of Conduct training.  

Very good slides but lack of time so discussion rushed; ran out of time for exercises 
which have been very useful in the past; there could have been more practical advice 
on considerations of planning matters that are discussed at committee; basing 
powerpoint on examples might improve learning; too much on planning code already 
covered in Code of Conduct training; too much was presented for proper assimilation 
& may need another session 

 

25. Proposal:  separate sessions for new members; tighter brief for any 
external trainer; better time management; greater emphasis on case work 
and practical advice. 

 

Charts on training attendance and feedback 

 

 

 

 

68



Appendix 1 

Evaluation of the member training programme in 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Very Good Good Fair Poor

Code of Conduct 74% 26% 0% 0%

Licencing 50% 50% 0% 0%

Planning External 57% 29% 14% 0%

Planning 57% 43% 0% 0%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

% 

Notice of Training Sessions 

Very Good Good Fair Poor

Code of Conduct 56% 28% 11% 6%

Licencing 42% 50% 8% 0%

Planning External 48% 38% 14% 0%

Planning 42% 32% 21% 5%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

% 

Choice of dates/ times 

69



Appendix 1 

Evaluation of the member training programme in 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Very Good Good Fair Poor

Code of Conduct 47% 42% 5% 5%

Licencing 58% 42% 0% 0%

Planning External 24% 62% 5% 10%

Planning 29% 52% 14% 5%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

 % 

Content of Training 

Very Good Good Fair Poor

Code of Conduct 40% 60% 0% 0%

Licencing 55% 45% 0% 0%

Planning External 13% 53% 13% 20%

Planning 16% 53% 26% 5%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

% 

Balance between powerpoint and chance 
for discussion 

70



Appendix 1 

Evaluation of the member training programme in 2018 

 

 

 

 

Very Good Good Fair Poor

Code of Conduct 67% 33% 0% 0%

Licencing 50% 50% 0% 0%

Planning External 68% 21% 0% 11%

Planning 42% 53% 5% 0%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

% 

Handouts 

71



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 

Proposals for the member training programme for 2019-2020 

 
Introduction 

1. As 2019 is a non-election year the following principles apply to the member 
training programme: 

 All members to attend compulsory code of conduct training before 31 July 

 All licensing committee members to attend compulsory licensing training 
before 31 July 

 All members to be invited to attend optional planning seminars during the 
year 

 
2. As there will be no new councillors there is not the same time pressure to 

complete the training before the first committee meetings. Nevertheless to 
derive maximum benefit from the training it would be sensible to schedule the 
compulsory training sessions close to the start of the new municipal year.  

 
3. All members will be expected to make arrangements to attend one of the 

scheduled sessions.  If necessary one reserve session for each topic will be 
scheduled for later in July but the dates for these will not be advertised in 
advance and members should not rely on the possibility of being offered a one-
to-one session.  

 
Compulsory training 

Code of Conduct 

4. Three compulsory Code of Conduct training sessions will be delivered by the 
Monitoring Officer: 

16 May 2019  Thurs Code of Conduct 

18 June 2019 Tues Code of Conduct 

 4 July 2019 Thurs Code of Conduct 

 
5. The content and format of the sessions will be revised to provide more 

opportunity for scenario based exercises and group discussions to take account 
of the feedback received in 2018.  There will also be a greater emphasis on the 
following issues: bias and pre-determination and use of social media.  

 
6. It may also be appropriate to touch on any issues or recommendations arising 

from the government’s response to the Committee on Standards in Public Life 
report on local government ethical standards. 

 
Licensing 

7. It is proposed to offer the licensing training on the same basis as in 2018. 

8. The compulsory licensing training session will be delivered on 16 May 2019 
between 6.30 - 8.00pm immediately after the initial meeting of the two licensing 
committees. Once again two separate training sessions will be offered in 
parallel by officers from the Licensing team and from Law & Governance. As it 

73



Appendix 2 

Proposals for the member training programme for 2019-2020 

 
is the first meeting of the municipal year it is reasonable to expect a good 
attendance rate. 

9. The first sub-committee meetings to hear licensing casework are on 29 and 30 
May 2019 so this will mean that any newly appointed members on the two 
licensing committees will have an opportunity to attend the training and to serve 
on a sub-committee hearing from the outset.  

10. Reserve training sessions will be scheduled to coincide with subsequent 
licensing committee meetings on 25 June and 18 September.  These sessions 
may be used to train new or replacement members appointed to the licensing 
committees during the year.  In addition they may be used to provide any 
specialist licensing training which may be identified during the year. 

11. The overall content and format of the licensing training will be very similar to 
that of 2018 but will be updated and revised to take account of regulatory 
developments and the feedback from participants. 

12. Licensing training dates for 2019-20:  

14 May 2019 Tues Licensing (after main Committee meetings) 

25 June 2019 Tues Reserve date: Licensing (after main Committee 
meetings) 

18 Sept 2019 Weds Reserve date: Licensing (after main Committee 
meetings) 

 
 

Non-compulsory training 

Planning 

13. Planning training is not compulsory in non-election years but it is proposed to 
offer a single session to experienced councillors (elected pre-2018) to cover 
new developments in the national planning framework and the new and 
emerging Local Plan policies.  

14. Those councillors with less experience in planning matters (elected in 2018) 
would be offered up to 3 separate sessions intended to build their practical 
skills and overall knowledge of the planning regime.  These would be stand-
alone sessions but attendance at all of them would be encouraged to maximise 
the benefit.  These sessions would not be available to other councillors.  The 
exact number and content of these sessions will be finalised by the Monitoring 
Officer and Head of Planning & Regulatory Services having taken account of 
the views of this Committee, the Portfolio holder for Planning & Transport and 
the Chairs of the planning committees. Other factors to take into account will be 
the feedback from the 2018 courses and the potential demand on planning staff 
resources. 

 

 

 

74



Appendix 2 

Proposals for the member training programme for 2019-2020 

 
15. Planning training dates for 2019-20:  

16 May 2019  Thurs Planning – building skills & 
knowledge 1 

2018 cohort 

18 June 2019 Tues Planning - building skills & 
knowledge 2 

2018 cohort 

26 June 2019 Weds Planning refresher on Local 
Plan policies and national 
framework 

Pre-2018 cohort  

4 July 2019 Thurs Planning - building skills & 
knowledge 3 

2018 cohort 

 

16. The principle of holding the optional training sessions has been repeated in 
2018/19 as it was considered to be of benefit to all councillors and particularly 
to the newly elected councillors and members of the planning committees. 
Training on the following topics has been, or will be, provided by 31 March 
2019:   

 National Planning Policy Framework & Policy 

 Planning Enforcement 

 Key urban design principles 

 Making unchallengeable decisions 

 Interpreting planning reports and material considerations 

17. It is proposed to continue this approach in 2019/20 to enable members to 
continue to build on their knowledge and experience. For this to be effective the 
training sessions will need to cover new topics.  The Monitoring Officer and 
Head of Planning & Regulatory Services will canvass councillors to inform the 
choice, and number of sessions, but the list might include: 

 Neighbourhood plans 

 Viability assessments 

 Planning appeals – lessons to be learnt 

 A practical session on committee procedures 

 planning obligations and the Community Infrastructure Levy 

 heritage and conservation areas 

18. Dates for these optional sessions have yet to be scheduled but it is expected 
that these will run from September 2019 to February 2020. 
 
 
Additional training sessions 

19. Additional training sessions will be scheduled as required.  The Monitoring 
Officer will consult all councillors and senior management before the start of the 

75



Appendix 2 

Proposals for the member training programme for 2019-2020 

 
new municipal year, to invite suggestions and proposals for additional training 
to be provided in-house or from external trainers.   

20. All such training will be optional.  Any proposals for compulsory training will 
need to be considered and supported by this Committee before being approved 
by Council. 

21. The budgets for member training and conference attendance are held by 
Committee & Member Services and Council has allocated a total of £5.5k  
proposed for 2019/20. These budgets cover attendance at external training 
conferences as well as the provision of any bespoke training provided by 
external trainers at the Council’s premises and member attendance at external 
training courses.   

22. Known training requirements will include, but are not limited to, courses on: 

 Effective use of social media 

  

 Unconscious bias 

 Mental health  

 Recruitment (for members of the Appointments Committee) 

 Standards (for members of the Standards Committee) 

 Hearings (for members of the Investigations and Disciplinary Committee). 

The detail of these courses will be finalised following this Committee meeting 
and it is anticipated that they will be offered to members in the spring and early 
summer. 

23. The Council has a considerable resource of in–house and on-line training 
modules for Council employees and there is no reason why appropriate 
courses should not be open to councillors as well. 

 

 

76



Appendix 3 

Proposals for a member training and development programme for 
2020-2024 

 
Introduction 

1. The current arrangements for member training date from 2014 with some 
adjustments in 2016. In 2018 it was agreed that the existing arrangements for 
member training should continue until the all-out Council elections in May 2020. 

 
2. This is regarded as an opportune time to introduce new training and 

development arrangements to meet the needs of a new Council.  Planning and 
preparation for such a holistic review of member development and training 
needs to start now and will place a significant demand on Council resources, 
initially in terms of officer in time and Committee/Council business. 

 
3. It is recommended that the Council goes back to first principles to: 

 Identify the required competencies and desirable skills and behaviours to be 
an effective councillor 

 Identify best practice examples of training and development programmes 
from other Local Authorities and from other organisations 

 Undertake a skills audit of existing councillors 

 Canvass views of existing councillors and senior management 

 Commission professional advice where appropriate 
 
4. This information would form the basis on which to develop a comprehensive 

member training and development programme for delivery over the 4 period 
2020-2024. 

 
Project team 

5. It is proposed that a small project team is tasked with taking this initiative 
forward. The team would consist of:  

 Cllr Chapman, as Chair 

 Anita Bradley , Head of Law & Governance 

 Helen Bishop, Head of Business Improvement 

 Mish Tullar, Corporate Policy, Partnership and Communications Manager 

 Chris Harvey, Organisational Development Manager 

 Andrew Brown, Committee & Member Services Manager 

 Catherine Phythian, Committee & Member Services 
 

Stakeholders 

6. The following stakeholder groups would be consulted on the proposals: 

Council Officers 

Leader of the Council Chief Executive 

Political group leaders Directors 

Standards Committee Service Heads 

Councillors “special interest” officers 

 

77



Appendix 3 

Proposals for a member training and development programme for 
2020-2024 

 
Decision  

7. Full Council would make the final decision on the proposals for a member 
training and development programme on the basis of a recommendation from 
the Standards Committee. 

 

Project plan 

8. The indicative timescale for the project is: 

When What Who 

25 February 2019 Agree proposals for project approach to 
deliver a Member development and training 
programme 2020-24 

Standards Committee 

April /May / June Research into best practice 
Consultation with stakeholders 
Detailed development of the proposals for the 
structure / format / content of a 4 year 
Member development and training 
programme 2020-24 
 

Project team 

24 June 2019 Agreement of Member development and 
training programme 2020-24 (principles) 

Standards Committee 

July Approval of Member development and 
training programme 2020-24 (principles) 

Council 

16 September 2019 Progress report on 2019 programme Standards Committee 

Oct / Nov Detailed development of course content 
programme for 2020 

Project team 

Commissioning of external courses for 2020 
delivery 

2 December 2019 Progress report Standards Committee 

Jan / Feb 2020 Final preparations on course content and 
materials for 2020 programme 

Project team 

2 March 2020 Sign off on 2020 programme  Standards Committee 

May 2020 Go live date for Member development and 
training programme 2020 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

78



.

To: Standards Committee
Date: 25 February 2019
Report of: Monitoring Officer 
Title of Report: Social media protocol for councillors

Summary and recommendations
Purpose of report: To agree a social media protocol for councillors.
Key decision: No

Recommendation: 
That the Standards Committee resolves to:
a) Approve the social media protocol for councillors as set out in Appendix 1.

Appendix 1 OCC Social media protocol for councillors 

Introduction and background 
1. Social media is an important and growing means of communication for councillors. It 

can be an effective way of staying in touch with citizens, advising them of the work 
being done and obtaining useful information from them. Many councillors are 
already successfully using social media for these purposes and for their own local 
and political campaigning. 

2. However, as was evident from a recent code of conduct complaint there are issues 
that can arise from the use of social media that could cause difficulties for 
councillors. 

3. The external investigator’s report on an investigation into that code of conduct 
complaint made the following recommendation:

Members should consider, even when it is clear that they are not conducting 
council business, that their conduct can have an effect on the reputation of 
their authority. Members need to be particularly aware that when it comes to 
Social Media, councillors can have ‘blurred identities’. This is where a 
member has a social media account where they comment both as a 
councillor and as an individual; for example, a Facebook account where a 
councillor has posted about a great night out (personal) and another time 
explained the council position on pothole repair (councillor). It may be clear in 
their mind when they are posting in a private capacity, but it could be less 
clear to others. Such blurred identities can have implications where a 
councillor’s individual views are taken as those of their organisation or 
political party, rather than their personal opinion.

79

Agenda Item 7



As such, I do recommend that the Council consider adopting a social media 
policy that will offer additional guidance for councillors. I would imagine that 
the Council would want one of their members to at least aspire to act in a 
manner that was conducive to supporting the principles set out in the Code, 
even in their private capacity. 

4. The Standards Committee meeting in September 2018 noted the external 
investigator’s recommendation and considered the merits of adopting a social 
media policy to offer additional guidance to members.  The Committee 
acknowledged the Monitoring Officer’s advice that although a social media policy 
would be helpful in setting clear expectations such guidance could only be advisory 
and would not broaden the scope of the standards regime in respect of members 
acting in a non-councillor capacity, as this position was based on case law. 

5. In November 2018 Council agreed to: 
Delegate authority to the Head of Law and Governance to amend the Constitution 
to include a social media policy, following consideration and approval by the 
Standards Committee.

6. Although the Council recommendation refers to a “social media policy” the draft 
document before the Standards Committee is badged as a “social media protocol 
for councillors”.  This is on advice from officers in the Corporate Policy, Partnership 
and Communications service that as the subject matter is advisory it does not meet 
the Council’s working definition of a policy.  The Monitoring Officer will therefore use 
the general delegation afforded to her in respect of amendments to the Council’s 
Constitution to carry out Council’s intention and include the protocol within the 
Constitution based on the delegation set out in paragraph 5 above which refers to a 
policy rather than a protocol.

Current practice
7. Some general guidance about using social media is provided as part of the annual 

Code of Conduct training which is mandatory for all councillors. When they are first 
elected, all councillors are required to sign the Council’s ICT Acceptable Use Policy 
(see Constitution chapter 27) which, although it refers to electronic communications 
on behalf of the Council, relates mainly to the use of Council equipment. 

8. The Code on Councillor – Officer relations (see Constitution chapter 23)  touches on 
media releases and publicity but primarily from the Council’s perspective on official 
statements.

9. The Committee on Standards in Public Life published the “Local Government 
Ethical Standards” report on 30 January 2019 and 2 of the 26 recommendations to 
Government relate to the use of social media:

 Recommendation 3: Councillors should be presumed to be acting in an 
official capacity in their public conduct, including statements on publicly-
accessible social media. Section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011 should be 
amended to permit local authorities to presume so when deciding upon code 
of conduct breaches.

80

http://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13443&path=0
http://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13443&path=0
http://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13443&path=0


 Recommendation 4: Section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011 should be 
amended to state that a local authority’s code of conduct applies to a 
member when they claim to act, or give the impression they are acting, in 
their capacity as a member or as a representative of the local authority

10. It is evident that the Council now needs to take a more proactive role in promoting 
best practice for social media use amongst councillors and reminding them of the 
potential risks associated with its use regardless of whether they are “posting or 
blogging” in their official capacity as a councillor or as a private individual. 

 
New approach
11. The draft “social media protocol for councillors “(Appendix 1) is based upon 

existing examples from other local authorities achieving what is anticipated to be 
the correct balance for this Council.  It is intended to provide general guidance 
and to promote greater clarity on the use of social media by councillors in either a 
personal or official capacity.  

12. It is expected that the “social media protocol for councillors” will be supplemented 
with training for councillors on the appropriate use of social media.  The exact 
status, format and content of that training is still under consideration and the views 
of councillors will be sought.  Detailed proposals will be brought to the Standards 
Committee for comment.  That training may take the form of an on-line module, as 
a short stand-alone session delivered from a legal or regulatory perspective or as 
part of a longer session from external providers which covers establishing a social 
media presence.  

13. In order to provide clearer guidance to councillors and to be transparent about the 
Council’s position, it is proposed that the “social media protocol for councillors” be 
approved, included in the Constitution and made public through publication on the 
Council’s website. Copies of the final document will be sent electronically and in 
hard copy to all councillors.

Legal implications
14. This report has no legal implications for the Council.  It has been agreed by 

Council that the protocol should be included in the Council’s Constitution.  
General legal issues to be considered when using social media are included in the 
draft “social media protocol for councillors”.

Financial implications
15. This report has no financial implications for the Council.   

Risk management
16. The adoption of a “social media protocol for councillors” will make it easier for 

councillors to understand when comments made on social media by them may 
amount to a breach of the Code of Conduct.

81



Report author Catherine Phythian

Job title Committee and Members Services Officer
Service area or department Law and Governance
Telephone 01865 252402  
e-mail cphythian@oxford.gov.uk 

82

mailto:cphythian@oxford.gov.uk


Social media protocol for councillors

Introduction
This protocol is intended to provide general guidance and to promote greater clarity 
on the use of social media by Oxford City councillors in both their elected and 
personal roles.
The use of social media poses some risks to the Council's reputation. These risks 
need to be managed.  This protocol aims to ensure that:

 Councillors, and through them the Council, are not exposed to legal risks as 
a result of social media use

 the reputation of the Councillors, and through them the Council, is not 
damaged as a result of social media use

Social media evolves rapidly, with new sites and features launching regularly. As 
such, this protocol does not go into detail about how to operate different social media 
applications, nor does it seek to encourage the use of social media.

Different roles and blurred identities
Using social media often blurs the line between personal and official 
communications.
Anyone reading social media posts will not necessarily recognise when a councillor 
is speaking as a private individual or as an elected councillor regardless of whether 
or not the post comes from a “councillor” profile.

“since the judgement of whether you are perceived to be acting as a 
councillor will be taken by someone else, it’s safest to assume that any 
online activity can be linked to your official role.”1 
Similarly anyone reading social media posts will also not necessarily recognise 
whether the post is from an individual councillor or as a spokesperson on behalf of 
the Council.  It is recommended that councillors add a statement along the following 
lines to their social media profile: 
“The views I express here are mine and do not necessarily reflect the views of the 
council.”

Social media protocol and the Code of Conduct
When using social media in an official capacity, councillors should be aware that 
they will be bound by the Code of Conduct. In particular, this includes (but is not 
limited to) the following principles:
• Treating others with respect
• Complying with equality laws

1 Local Government Group - Connected Councillors: A guide to using social media to support local 
leadership. P24

83

https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/file/892/code_of_members_conduct


Page 2 of 4
Updated January 2019

• Not bullying or intimidating
• Not bringing the council into disrepute
• Not disclosing confidential information
Councillors serving on regulatory committees such as planning or licensing should 
also be mindful of the rules relating to bias and pre-determination and should be 
careful not to post anything on a social media site that might suggest that they did 
not have an open mind about any matter they may be involved in determining. Any 
views aired on social media could be used as evidence of making a decision in 
advance of hearing all relevant information. The Council’s decision could then be 
open to challenge and could be invalidated.

Responsibilities
The consequences of misusing social media can include negative publicity, 
regulatory attention and confidentiality and copyright concerns.
Councillors are personally responsible for the content they post on any form of 
social media and will need to be aware of the laws that apply to published (posted) 
material. This includes (but is not limited to):

 Data protection: do not post personal data of other people, including 
photographs, without their express permission to do so;  

 Defamation:  is a spoken or written expression which is deemed to harm the 
reputation of an individual and proved to be false;

 Copyright: do not post information without permission;

 Harassment: it is an offence to pursue a campaign repeatedly against a 
person that is likely to cause alarm, harassment or distress;

 Incitement: it is an offence to incite any criminal act;

 Discrimination and ‘protected characteristics’: it is an offence to discriminate 
against anyone based on protected characteristics (as defined in the Equality 
Act 2010);

 Malicious and obscene communications: it is an offence to post malicious or 
obscene communications.

 Reporting restrictions and contempt of court: there might be a legal 
reporting restriction on a court case. There are also rules about what any 
member of the public can publish which might be in contempt of court. Once 
somebody has been arrested or civil proceedings have started, they are 
protected by law from the publication of information which might mean that 
their trial cannot take place fairly. 

Councillors should contact the Council’s communications team before responding to 
any contact from journalists about social media posts made in an official capacity.
Councillors should not use social media on council computer equipment or digital 
devices to make political statements or to canvass votes; particular care should be 

84

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics


Page 3 of 4
Updated January 2019

taken during the pre-election period. 
Councillors should be familiar with the following documents:

 Oxford City Council data protection policy and the statement on the Council 
website.

 ICT Acceptable Use Policy (see Constitution chapter 27)

 Code on Councillor – Officer relations (see Constitution chapter 23)

 Safeguarding Children, Young People and Adults with Care and Support 
Needs Policy & Procedures

Using social media at Council meetings
Councillors should use social media sparingly, discreetly and with common sense at 
meetings, considering the impression this presents to others. Councillors should be 
mindful that regulatory committees such as planning or licensing require the 
councillor to alert officers to any lobbying material they have received. This would 
be difficult if it arrives via social media and is read by the councillor during the 
course of a meeting.
It is important for councillors to show that sufficient attention is being given to the 
discussion at the meeting. If councillors are perceived to have made a decision 
without having properly listened to the debate it could lead to the relevant decision 
coming under challenge. It could also result in code of conduct complaints of a 
failure to treat others with respect or of bringing the Council into disrepute.  

Best practice
Set the tone
Set the tone for online conversations by being polite, accurate and transparent. 
Encourage constructive criticism and deliberation. 
Be responsive
Remember it’s a conversation. People expect to interact and to receive responses 
to their questions. 
Allow disagreement
Treat differences of opinion with respect, engage in the discussion and be wary 
about deleting opposing views. Be mindful of “trolling” 2 and avoid being drawn in to 
unnecessary or unproductive arguments.
Deal with inappropriate comments
Take prompt action to remove any inappropriate or offensive comments and explain 
the reason that this was done.

2 Trolling as it relates to the internet, is the deliberate act of making random unsolicited and/or 
controversial comments on various internet forums with the intent of provoking readers into 
displaying emotional responses whether amusement or a specific gain

85

OCC%2520GDPR%2520Policy%2520version%25204%25200%2520-%2520Jan%25202018%2520(3).pdf
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20083/policies_and_strategies/530/our_data_protection_policy
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20083/policies_and_strategies/530/our_data_protection_policy
http://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13443&path=0
http://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13443&path=0
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/file/848/safeguarding_children_and_vulnerable_adults_policy
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/file/848/safeguarding_children_and_vulnerable_adults_policy


Page 4 of 4
Updated January 2019

Safeguarding 
Councillors have a responsibility to report any concerns about other site users.
Admit mistakes
Acknowledge and correct any mistakes. Do not just delete them. Do not alter 
previous posts without indicating that there has been a change.
Pause before publishing
A hastily posted blog post or tweet will probably have already been read or 
duplicated in places on the web before it can be deleted or amended.
Think about following / friending
Some constituents may be uncomfortable if a councillor begins following them or 
sends them a friend request. Consider waiting to be followed or friended first. Online 
relationships with council employees need to be treated with caution. Whilst some 
online relationships may be valid both parties need to be sure not to compromise 
the impartial and professional relationship that is important between councillors and 
colleagues.

Protection and security  
Sharing background information, such as information about family or personal 
interests, may be useful in helping establish a relationship with social media 
audiences but revealing certain details might increase the risk of identity theft.
Make use of stringent privacy settings to prevent your personal social media posts 
being accessed by the press or public. Read the terms of service of any social 
media site accessed to understand their confidentiality/privacy settings.

Further information
• for advice of a non-political nature on best practice for social media contact 

the Communications team
• for advice on the Code of Conduct contact the Monitoring Officer
• for information about courses, conferences and member training relating to 

social media contact the Committee & Member Services team

Useful websites include:
LGIU

 How social media can help your work as a councillor
 Social media dos and donts
 Ten basic principles of social media

Welsh Local Government Association
 Councillors Guide to handling on line abuse

86

mailto:pressoffice@oxford.gov.uk
mailto:ajbradley@oxford.gov.uk
mailto:democraticservices@oxford.gov.uk
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/guidance-and-resources/comms-hub-communications-support/digital-communications/social-1
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/guidance-and-resources/communications-support/digital-councils/social-media/get-started/dos-and-donts
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/guidance-and-resources/communications-support/digital-councils/social-media/get-started/ten-basic-principles
https://www.wlga.wales/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=62&mid=665&fileid=1504


 

. 

 

To: Standards Committee 

Date: 25 February 2019 

Report of: Monitoring Officer / Head of Law and Governance 

Title of Report:  Committee on Standards in Public Life – Local 
Government Ethical Standards  

 

Summary and recommendations 

Purpose of report: This report informs the Committee of the findings of 
the Committee on Standards in Public Life report on 
Local Government Ethical Standards. 

Key decision: No 

Recommendation:  

That the Standards Committee notes the report and considers whether 
there are any particular recommendations from the Committee on 
Standards in Public Life that the Committee would like to consider further 
at a future meeting. 

Appendix 1 The Committee on Standards in Public Life report on  
Local Government Ethical Standards 

 

Introduction and background  

1. In 2018 the Committee on Standards in Public Life undertook a review of local 
government ethical standards. The Committee on Standards in Public Life 
considers that robust standards arrangements are needed to safeguard local 
democracy, maintain high standards of conduct, and to protect ethical practice in 
local government. The consultation period ran from 29 January to 18 May 2018. 

 
2. The terms of reference for the review were to: 

i. examine the structures, processes and practices in local government in 
England for: 
o maintaining codes of conduct for local councillors 
o investigating alleged breaches fairly and with due process 
o enforcing codes and imposing sanctions for misconduct 
o declaring interests and managing conflicts of interest 
o whistleblowing 

ii. assess whether the existing structures, processes and practices are 
conducive to high standards of conduct in local government 

87

Agenda Item 8



iii. make any recommendations for how they can be improved 

iv. note any evidence of intimidation of councillors, and make 
recommendations for any measures that could be put in place to prevent 
and address such intimidation 

 
3.  Details of the review can be found at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/local-government-ethical-standards-
stakeholder-consultation.  

 
Oxford City Council submission 

4. The Oxford City Council response to the review was prepared by the Monitoring 
Officer, following discussions with the Chair-elect of the Standards Committee 
(Councillor Shaista Aziz) and the Committee and Member Services Manager 
Appendix 1 contains the Oxford City Council response to the review. 

 
The Committee on Standards in Public Life report on Local Government Ethical 
Standards 

5. The Committee on Standards in Public Life (“the CSPL”) published the Local 
Government Ethical Standards report (“the Report”) on 30 January 2019.  

 
6. The CSPL has recommended that local authorities should be given the power to 

suspend councillors without allowances for up to six months. It said “The current 
sanctions available to local authorities are insufficient. Party discipline, whilst it has 
an important role to play in maintaining high standards, lacks the necessary 
independence and transparency to play the central role in a standards system .. 
The current lack of robust sanctions damages public confidence in the standards 
system and leaves local authorities with no means of enforcing lower level sanctions 
nor of addressing serious or repeated misconduct.” This is something that the 
Council highlighted in its response to the CSPL review. It said that “the main 
weakness in the standards regime is the limited range of sanctions that can be 
applied, which are not strong enough to provide an effective deterrent … Additional 
sanctions which would strengthen the standards regime should include the powers 
to suspend members from office and to suspend members’ allowances for a period 
of time. Currently there are insufficient sanctions to deal with more extreme 
behaviours such as serious bullying, dishonesty or conviction other than under s34 
Localism Act 2011.” 
 

7. The CSPL said that councillors, including parish councillors, who are suspended 
should be given the right to appeal to the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman, who should be given the power to investigate allegations of code 
breaches on appeal. The decision of the Ombudsman would then be binding. The 
Government will have to consider whether to introduce this mechanism one 
particular concern may be the delay that this could build into the process. 

 
8. The CSPL described the Monitoring Officer as “the lynchpin” of the current 

standards arrangements, but accepted that the role was "challenging and broad", 
with a number of practical tensions and the potential for conflicts of interest. It said 
that local authorities should put in place arrangements to manage any potential 
conflicts, it said. It has called for employment protections for statutory officers to be 
extended, and for statutory officers to be supported through training on local 

88

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/local-government-ethical-standards-stakeholder-consultation
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/local-government-ethical-standards-stakeholder-consultation
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-ethical-standards-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-ethical-standards-report


authority governance. This is something that the Council highlighted in its response 
to the review. It said “The Monitoring Officer has to be extremely robust when 
dealing with complaints against senior members of an Authority. The statutory 
protection afforded to Monitoring Officers could be strengthened to encapsulate a 
specific category of when they are dealing with complaints against members. In the 
event of a conflict of interest it is useful to have reciprocal arrangements with other 
Monitoring Officers to step in, but depending on the circumstances there could be 
reluctance to wish to do so.” Any additional protections will require legislative 
change through an amendment to The Local Authorities (standing Orders) England 
(Amendment) Regulations 2015. 

 
9. There is a list of recommendations in the Report at page 14. The  key findings and 

recommendations in the Report include: 
 

i. There is considerable variation in the length, quality and clarity of codes of 
conduct. It found that this created confusion among members of the public 
and among councillors who represent more than one tier of local 
government. Many codes of conduct fail to adequately address important 
areas of behaviour such as social media use and bullying and harassment. 
An updated model code of conduct should be available to local authorities in 
order to enhance the consistency and quality of local authority codes. The 
Local Government Association will be responsible for creating this model 
code. In terms of good practice, all Oxfordshire local authorities are covered 
by a single, jointly-agreed Code of Conduct that is wider than just the seven 
Nolan principles of conduct in public life.  This ensures that councillors who 
are members of multiple authorities within the area are covered by a single 
code, providing clarity and consistency. A model code while on the face of it, 
reducing local choice would create consistency across England and reflect 
the common expectations of the public regardless of geography or tier of 
authority.  

 
ii.       The updated model code should be voluntary and able to be adapted by 

local authorities. The scope of the code of conduct should also be widened, 
with a rebuttable presumption that a councillor’s public behaviour, including 
comments made on publicly accessible social media, was in their official 
capacity. The Council, in its response to the review, stated that “the rules 
around disclosable pecuniary interests and the Seven ‘Nolan’ Principles of 
Public Life are clear and easily understood. However, adopted codes have 
not kept pace with recent technological and societal changes and the range 
of behaviours covered is somewhat limited. For example, it is not necessary 
that aspects such as bullying, the use of ICT equipment and social media 
are covered by all adopted codes and this has been left as local choice.” The 
Localism Act may need to be amended to allow for the rebuttable 
presumption that councillors are acting in an official capacity in their public 
statements on publicly-accessible social media which can be an important 
consideration when deciding on code of conduct breaches. 

 
iii. The current arrangements for declaring and managing interests are “unclear, 

too narrow and do not meet the expectations of councillors or the public”. 
The current requirements for registering interests should be updated to 
include categories of non-pecuniary interests. The current rules on declaring 

89



and managing interests should be repealed and replaced with an objective 
test, in line with the devolved standards bodies in Scotland, Wales and 
Northern Ireland. The Council stated that “the compulsory provisions for 
registering and declaring interests are limited to disclosable pecuniary 
interests with no accompanying guidance. This is quite a narrow range of 
interests that is subject to interpretation by elected members and is unlikely 
to satisfy public perceptions and expectations of the kinds of interests that 
should be declared. For example, there are no compulsory requirements 
around declaring other prejudicial interests, which may warrant further 
consideration .... In addition, further explanation and guidance on disclosable 
pecuniary interests would be welcome, including, for example, roles on other 
organisations where the councillor receives expenses or payment in kind … 
Adopted codes could be clearer about expectations in relation to conflicts 
that are not disclosable pecuniary interests.” The Relevant Authorities 
(Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 and the Localism Act 
2011 would need to be amended if this recommendation is adopted. 

 
iv.       The current criminal offences relating to disclosable pecuniary interests are 

“disproportionate in principle and ineffective in practice, and should be 
abolished”. The CSPL state that “to potentially criminalise a public office-
holder for what is essentially a code of conduct matter is inappropriate. It 
sets a high bar for the standard of proof and is a costly process for the public 
purse.” The criminal offences in the Localism Act 2011 would need to be 
abolished. In practice it would appear that this provision has also been little 
used and therefore is not serving its intended purpose. 

 
v.       Local authorities should maintain a standards committee. This committee 

would advise on standards issues, decide on alleged breaches and 
sanctions, or a combination of these. Independent members of decision-
making standards committees should be able to vote. This reflects the 
approach in retaining its Standards Committee that Oxford City Council has 
chosen for itself emphasising the importance of ethical behaviour to the 
Council and its councillors. 

 
vi.       The safeguard provided by the Independent Person should be strengthened 

and clarified: a local authority should only be able to suspend a councillor 
where the Independent Person agrees both that there has been a breach 
and that suspension is a proportionate sanction. Independent Persons 
should have fixed terms and legal protections. The view of the Independent 
Person in relation to a decision on which they are consulted should be 
published in any formal decision notice. This will require an amendment to 
the Localism Act 2011.  

 
vii.       Parish councils should be required to adopt the code of their principal 

authority (or the new model code) and a principal authority’s decision on 
sanctions for a parish councillor should be binding.  

 
viii.       Monitoring officers should be provided with adequate training, corporate 

support and resources to undertake their role in providing support on 
standards issues to parish councils, including in undertaking investigations 
and recommending sanctions. Clerks should also hold an appropriate 

90



qualification to support them to uphold governance within their parish 
council.  

 
ix.       At a time of rapid change in local government, decision-making in local 

councils was becoming more complex, with increased commercial activity 
and partnership working. “This complexity risks putting governance under 
strain. Local authorities setting up separate bodies risk a governance 
‘illusion’, and should take steps to prevent and manage potential conflicts of 
interest, particularly if councillors sit on these bodies. They should also 
ensure that these bodies are transparent and accountable to the council and 
to the public.”  

 
x. An ethical culture required leadership. Given the multi-faceted nature of local 

government, leadership is needed from a range of individuals and groups: 
an authority’s standards committee, the chief executive, political group 
leaders, and the chair of the council. The Council raised this as part of its 
response to the review.  

 
xi.       Political groups have an important role to play in maintaining an ethical 

culture. “They should be seen as a semi-formal institution sitting between 
direct advice from officers and formal processes by the council, rather than a 
parallel system to the local authority’s standards processes. Political groups 
should set clear expectations of behaviour by their members, and senior 
officers should maintain effective relationships with political groups, working 
with them informally to resolve standards issues where appropriate.”  

 
xii.        An ethical culture starts with tone. “Whilst there will always be robust 

disagreement in a political arena, the tone of engagement should be civil 
and constructive.” Expected standards of behaviour should be embedded 
through effective induction and ongoing training. It was acknowledged by 
councillors recently in the budget council meeting earlier this month that 
while political views may differ, business continues to be conducted in a civil 
and respectful way. 

 
xiii.       Political groups should require their members to attend code of conduct 

training provided by a local authority, and this should also be written into 
national party model group rules. “Maintaining an ethical culture day-to-day 
relies on an impartial, objective monitoring officer who has the confidence of 
all councillors and who is professionally supported by the chief executive.”  

 
xiv.       An ethical culture will be an open culture. “Local authorities should welcome 

and foster opportunities for scrutiny, and see it as a way to improve decision 
making. They should not rely unduly on commercial confidentiality 
provisions, or circumvent open decision-making processes. Whilst local 
press can play an important role in scrutinising local government, openness 
must be facilitated by authorities’ own processes and practices.”  

 
10. The Government will take time to consider the recommendations contained in 

the Report. A number of the CSPL’s recommendations involve legislative 
change which it believed the government should implement. A further report will 

91



be prepared for the Committee when the government has published its 
response. 

 
11. The Report contains a list of fifteen best practice recommendations for local 

authorities at Page 18. The CSPL has said that it expects local authorities to 
implement those recommendations and that it will review their implementation in 
2020. 

 
12. A number of the recommendations would require amendments to be made to the 

Council’s Code of Conduct but this would need to be done in consultation with 
the other Oxfordshire authorities since they each adopted the same shared 
code. For example, the CSPL has recommended that any code should require 
councillors to comply with any formal standards investigation and prohibiting 
trivial or malicious allegations by councillors. The Council’s code does not 
currently make such provision. 

 
13. There is a recommendation to local authorities to  update their gifts and 

hospitality register at least once per quarter and publish it in an accessible 
format. This is something that has already been agreed locally and 
arrangements will be put in place and communicated to members. 

 
14. The CSPL has also recommended that Council’s should publish a clear and 

straightforward public interest test against which allegations are filtered. This is 
something that is proposed as part of the review of the Council’s complaint 
handling process and the revised arrangements, to include clarity around the 
public interest test, will be considered elsewhere on the agenda.  

 
Legal implications 

15. None – for information only. 
 
Financial implications 

16. None – for information only. 
 
Risk management 

17.  None – for information only. 
 

 

Report author Emma Griffiths 

Job title Lawyer 

Service area or department Law and Governance 

Telephone  01865 252208   

e-mail  egriffiths@oxford.gov.uk  

 

92

mailto:egriffiths@oxford.gov.uk


APPENDIX 1
The Committee on Standards in Public Life – Local Government Ethical Standards 
Consultation 

Oxford City Council response

A. Are the existing structures, processes and practices in place working to 
ensure high standards of conduct by local councillors? If not, please say why.
Processes for the assessment of complaints and complaint hearings are generally 
working well.  There is some confusion about the role of independent persons.  
Standards Committees can no longer be chaired by an independent person and this 
can be seen by the public as a retrograde step which dilutes public accountability 
and the independence of the standards committee from the elected members.

B. What, if any, are the most significant gaps in the current ethical standards 
regime for local government?
The main weakness in the standards regime is the limited range of sanctions that 
can be applied, which are not strong enough to provide an effective deterrent. See 
also answer F.

Codes of conduct

C. Are local authority adopted codes of conduct for councillors clear and easily 
understood? Do the codes cover an appropriate range of behaviours? What 
examples of good practice, including induction processes, exist?
The rules around disclosable pecuniary interests and the Seven ‘Nolan’ Principles of 
Public Life are clear and easily understood.  However, adopted codes have not kept 
pace with recent technological and societal changes and the range of behaviours 
covered is somewhat limited.  For example, it is not necessary that aspects such as 
bullying, the use of ICT equipment and social media are covered by all adopted 
codes and this has been left as local choice.

In terms of good practice, all Oxfordshire local authorities are covered by a single, 
jointly-agreed Code of Conduct.  This ensures that councillors who are members of 
multiple authorities within the area are covered by a single code, providing clarity and 
consistency. 

D. A local authority has a statutory duty to ensure that its adopted code of 
conduct for councillors is consistent with the Seven Principles of Public Life 
and that it includes appropriate provision (as decided by the local authority) 
for registering and declaring councillors’ interests. Are these requirements 
appropriate as they stand? If not, please say why.
The Seven Principles of Public Life remain relevant and continue to form the basis of 
all adopted codes of conduct.  The compulsory provisions for registering and 
declaring interests are limited to disclosable pecuniary interests with no 
accompanying guidance.  This is quite a narrow range of interests that is subject to 

93



APPENDIX 1
interpretation by elected members and is unlikely to satisfy public perceptions and 
expectations of the kinds of interests that should be declared.  For example, there 
are no compulsory requirements around declaring other prejudicial interests, which 
may warrant further consideration.

Investigations and decisions on allegations

E. Are allegations of councillor misconduct investigated and decided fairly and 
with due process?

i. What processes do local authorities have in place for investigating and 
deciding upon allegations? Do these processes meet requirements for 
due process? Should any additional safeguards be put in place to 
ensure due process?

ii. Is the current requirement that the views of an Independent Person 
must be sought and taken into account before deciding on an 
allegation sufficient to ensure the objectivity and fairness of the 
decision process? Should this requirement be strengthened? If so, 
how?

iii. Monitoring Officers are often involved in the process of investigating 
and deciding upon code breaches. Could Monitoring Officers be 
subject to conflicts of interest or undue pressure when doing so? How 
could Monitoring Officers be protected from this risk?

i) The Council’s arrangements for dealing with allegations of breaches of its Code 
of Conduct for Members are summarised below:

Once a complaint about an alleged breach of the Code has been 
received, the Monitoring Officer will take advice from an independent 
person and decide within 21 days whether or not the threshold has 
been reached for an investigation.  

If the Monitoring Officer’s decision is that the complaint warrants an 
investigation then a person will be appointed to undertake the 
investigation and produce a draft report.  The report will be sent, in 
confidence, to the complainant and the subject of the complaint for 
comment.  The Monitoring Officer will then review the report and decide 
which course of action to take from the following options:

1. No further action.
2. A local resolution (e.g. an apology or remedial action).
3. A Standards Committee hearing.

These arrangements while not the most detailed are considered to be sound and 
to appropriately balance the need to treat allegations seriously with the need to 
ensure that an appropriate outcome can be achieved without undue delay.  

94



APPENDIX 1

ii) It is right that the independent person’s view should be sought to provide an 
independent opinion and public perspective on the matter at hand.  This can help 
to inform the Monitoring Officer’s decision about whether to investigate an alleged 
breach but this decision should continue to rest with the Monitoring Officer.  

iii) The Monitoring Officer has to be extremely robust when dealing with complaints 
against senior members of an Authority.  The statutory protection afforded to 
Monitoring Officers could be strengthened to encapsulate a specific category of 
when they are dealing with complaints against members.  In the event of a 
conflict of interest it is useful to have reciprocal arrangements with other 
Monitoring Officers to step in, but depending on the circumstances there could be 
reluctance to wish to do so.

Sanctions

F. Are existing sanctions for councillor misconduct sufficient?
The sanctions currently available are as follows:
1. Censure or reprimand;
2. Publish findings in respect of the member’s conduct;
3. Report findings to Council or to Parish Council for information;
4. Recommend to the member’s group Leader (or in the case of un-grouped 
members, recommend to Council or to Committees) that he/she be removed from any 
or all Committee or Sub-Committees of the Council;
5. Recommend to the Leader of the Council that the member be removed from the 
Cabinet, or removed from particular Portfolio responsibilities;
6. Recommend to Council that the member be replaced as Executive Leader;
7. Instruct the Monitoring Officer to or recommend that the Parish Council arrange 
training for the member.

Additional sanctions which would strengthen the standards regime should include the 
powers to suspend members from office and to suspend members’ allowances for a 
period of time. Currently there are insufficient sanctions to deal with more extreme 
behaviours such as serious bullying, dishonesty or conviction other than under s34 
Localism Act 2011.

Declaring interests and conflicts of interest

G. Are existing arrangements to declare councillors’ interests and manage 
conflicts of interest satisfactory? If not please say why.

i. A local councillor is under a legal duty to register any pecuniary 
interests (or those of their spouse or partner), and cannot participate in 
discussion or votes that engage a disclosable pecuniary interest, nor 
take any further steps in relation to that matter, although local 

95



APPENDIX 1
authorities can grant dispensations under certain circumstances. Are 
these statutory duties appropriate as they stand?

ii. What arrangements do local authorities have in place to declare 
councillors’ interests, and manage conflicts of interest that go beyond 
the statutory requirements? Are these satisfactory? If not, please say 
why.

i) See answer C.  In addition, further explanation and guidance on disclosable 
pecuniary interests would be welcome, including, for example, roles on other 
organisations where the councillor receives expenses or payment in kind.

ii) Adopted codes could be clearer about expectations in relation to conflicts that are 
not disclosable pecuniary interests.  Further guidance, including a model Code of 
Conduct, would be welcome. 

Whistleblowing

H. What arrangements are in place for whistleblowing, by the public, councillors, 
and officials? Are these satisfactory?
The Whistle Blowing Policy forms part of the Council’s Constitution.  It is reviewed 
annually and is considered to be satisfactory.

Improving standards

I. What steps could local authorities take to improve local government ethical 
standards?

1. Ensuring that high ethical standards are supported at the top of the organisation by 
both members and officers.

2. Ensuring that a Standards Committee or its equivalent is an essential part of the 
local authority framework and reports at least annually to full Council.  The 
Committee should have a clear and meaningful role in relation to upholding high 
ethical standards.

J. What steps could central government take to improve local government ethical 
standards?

1. Broaden the range of interests that must be declared. 
2. Broaden the range of sanctions that can be applied.
3. Produce a model Code of Conduct. 

Intimidation of local councillors

K. What is the nature, scale, and extent of intimidation towards local councillors?
i. What measures could be put in place to prevent and address this 

intimidation?
Council officers have little experience of any intimidation councillors may be 
subjected to when they are in their local community or acting as local politicians (e.g. 
when they are out canvassing).   The most serious abuse seems to occur online and 
also involves close members of any politician’s family being subjected to 
unwarranted abuse.

96


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of previous meetings
	Printed minutes 01112017 1000 Standards Committee

	4 Code of Conduct: summary of complaints and individual dispensations - 1 September 2018 until 31 January 2019
	5 Assessment criteria and proposed changes to the complaints handling process
	Appendix 1 - Current complaints handling documents
	OCC Complaints Handling Arrangements - current
	OCC Councillor Complaints Form - current

	Appendix 2 - Revised complaint handling documents combined

	6 Review of member training in 2018 and proposals for future years
	Appendix 1 evaluation of member training 2018
	Appendix 2 Member training programme 2019-20
	Appendix 3 Member training programme 2020-24

	7 Social media protocol for councillors
	Appendix 1 - social media protocol for councillors

	8 Committee on Standards in Public Life - Local Government Ethical Standards
	Appendix 1 - Oxford City Council response to Ethical Standards consultation


